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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To: Shareholders of BC Moldindconbank SA 

 

 

 

Qualified opinion 

 

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters described in the Basis for Qualified 

Opinion section of our report, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material 

respects, the financial position of the Bank as at December 31,2017, and its financial performance and 

its cash flow for the year ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(”IFRS”). 

 

We audited financial statements of BC Moldindconbank SA (the “Bank”), which comprise statement of 

financial position as at December 31, 2017 and statement of comprehensive income, statement of 

changes in equity, statement of cash flow for the year then ended and Notes to the financial 

statements, including a summary of the significant accounting policies.  

 
Basis for qualified opinion 
 

Related parties  

In the evaluation and transparency policy of shareholders of the licensed banks, National Bank of 

Moldova stated, by decision of October 20, 2016 that a group of persons are acting in concert in 

relation to BC Moldindconbank SA. As a result, National Bank of Moldova has suspended the voting 

rights of some shareholders and instituted since October 20, 2016 a system of early intervention in 

order to ensure a sound leadership and prudent banking activity in the period of solving the 

deficiencies identified in the ownership structure of BC Moldindconbank SA. As of January 19, 2018, 

the Bank's Executive Committee approved the cancellation of 63.9% of the Bank's shares and, the 

issuance of new shares for sale for a period of three months. Following these actions, we were unable 

to obtain sufficient evidence to understand whether the Bank has identified all related parties and 

respectively, has disclosed transactions and balances with related parties for the financial year ended 

December 31, 2017. Thus, we could not determine whether Note 33 "Related parties and related 

transactions" presents comprehensive information and if additional disclosures are necessary. 

 

Corrections of previous years regarding provision for litigation 

The Bank has disclosed in the Note 38 Corrections of previous years the restatement of some items of 

the financial position in connection with the recognition of the provision for litigations amounting to 

MDL 000 218,109, following NBM prescriptions. Following the nature and uncertainty of the long-term 

court proceedings, it has not been possible to make disclosure in accordance with International 

Accounting Standards IAS 8 "Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors," 

relating to the amount of the correction at the beginning of the earliest prior period, the circumstances 

that lead to the existence of that condition and a description of how and when the error has been 

corrected. Considering that our opinion on the Financial Statements for the prior period, 31 December 

2016, included a qualification about the uncertainty and the non-recognition of this provision, it has not 

been possible to perform adequate procedures to determine the amount of the restatements of the 

previous financial years, and thus it was not possible the presentation in our auditor's report of the 
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profit and loss statement and the comprehensive income restated for each previous financial year 

affected by this adjustment. 

The Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in according with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the section Auditor’s responsibilities for 

the audit of the financial statements of this auditor’s report. We are independent of the Bank, 

according to the ethic requirements relevant to the audit of the financial statements and we 

accomplished other ethical responsibilities, according to these requirements. We believe that the audit 

evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion. 

 

Independence 

We are independent in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ 

Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”). We have fulfilled our other ethical 

responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. 

 

Our audit approach 

Overview 

Materiality 21 million MDL 

Audit Scope 

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform 
sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on the 
financial statements as a whole, taking into account the 
structure of the Bank, the accounting processes and 
controls, and the industry in which the Bank operates. 
 

Key audit matters 

• Provision for impairment of loans  

• Assessment of the prudential reserves 

• Assets taken over by the bank 
 
 
 

 

 

Materiality 

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain 

reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material, if individually or in 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 

the basis of the consolidated financial statements. 

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, 

including: 

Materiality 21 million MDL 

How we determined it 1% of net assets 

Rationale for the materiality 
benchmark applied 

We chose bank’s net assets, considering the users interest in the 
financial statements. 
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Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 

our audit of the financial statements for the year ended at December 31, 2017. The aspects mentioned 

below were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming 

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter 

Provision for impairment of loans  
We focused  on  this  matter  due  to  the 
significance of loans and in particular the 
significance of judgements and use of estimates 
required for calculation of the related provision.  

The provision represents management's best 
estimate of losses incurred from the loans as at the 
balance sheet date.  

Collective provisions are calculated on a portfolio 
basis for loans of a similar nature. This depreciation 
method is used for insignificant individual 
transactions and for those individually significant 
transactions for which no events have been 
identified that result in losses in the individual 
valuation process or for which no provision has 
been calculated. Such provisions are calculated 
using statistical models estimating the impact of the 
current economic and credit conditions on the 
different portfolios of loans. The design of and 
inputs  to the models are subject to management 
judgement.  

Individual provisions are calculated on an individual 
basis for significant exposures and may also be 
used to measure insignificant exposures. For these 
provisions, professional judgment is needed to 
identify the individual event that causes losses, as 
well as to estimate future inflows. 

We assessed the key methodologies and 
related models for calculation of the provision 
for consistency with the requirements of 
IFRS. 

We assessed and tested (on a sample basis) 
the design, operability and effectiveness of 
the internal control over the overdue loans, 
including identification of the overdue loans 
and the  data transfer into provisioning 
system. 

We tested (on a sample basis) loans, which 
had not been identified by management as 
impaired and formed our own judgement as 
to whether that was appropriate. We then 
investigated any differences in our 
judgements with management to assess the 
appropriateness of management's 
judgements. 

We re-performed discounted cash flows 
calculations, examined the expected future 
cash flows used by management,  challenged  
the  assumptions,  including valuation of 
collateral of cash flows. 

We performed various types of analytical 
procedures over the adequacy of provision for 
loans. 

We further assessed the adequacy of the 
Bank’s disclosures in the financial statements 
regarding exposure to credit risk. 

 

 

 

 

 

Assessment of the prudential reserves 

We focused on this matter due to the significance 
of loans balances in the Bank’s balance sheet and 
in particular the significance of judgements and 
estimates required for calculation of the related 
reserves.  

These reserves are significant for determining of 
the bank risk and for estimating of the compliance 
with the normative capital rate. They are prepared 
quarterly, based on NBM regulation, which 
supposes the classification of loans depending on 
the risk in the following categories: 

 Category A: Standard, 2% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

We assessed the key methodologies and 
related models for calculation of the reserve 
and its consistency with the requirements of 
National Bank of Moldova. 

We assessed and tested (on a sample basis) 
the design and operating effectiveness of the 
internal control over the overdue and 
renegotiated  loans, loans exposure in the 
capital, including identification of these loans 
and the data transfer into the system of 
reserve assessment. 

We tested (on a sample basis) loans, which 
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter 

 Category B: Supervised, 5% 

 Category C: Substandard, 30% 

 Category D: Doubtful, 60% 

 Category E: Compromised, 100% 

This classification is based on outstanding days, 
current financial situation of the counterparty 
assessed from the point of view of the capacity to 
honor its commitments, the contractual term’s 
compliance, current trading value of the pledged 
object and its liquidity degree in the market, 
business environment of the counterparty, credit 
history on compliance by the counterparty of the 
obligations assumed by credit contracts, other 
factors that may affect the compliance by the 
counterparty of the contractual terms. 

had not been identified as necessary for the 
provision, and formed our own judgement as 
to whether that was appropriate. We then 
investigated any differences in our 
judgements with management to assess the 
appropriateness of management's 
judgements. 

We reviewed the control acts, prepared by 
the National Bank referring to the 
classification of these credits. We evaluated 
the acknowledgement of the reserves based 
on these acts, considering the subsequent 
events and settled loans.  

We performed various types of analytical 
procedures over the adequacy of provision for 
loans.  

 

Assets taken over by the bank as collateral 

We considered this point to be significant due to the 
importance of the balances of the assets taken over 
in exchange for the repayment of loans as well the 
level of professional judgment, and the 
management's estimation required for establishing 
fair value and the sufficiency of provisions for 
impairment. 

 

 

 

The valuation of these assets was carried out 
by a local Evaluation Company SRL on 15 
July 2017. We obtained the valuation reports, 
tested the methods used to establish the fair 
value and assessed, based on our 
professional judgment, whether the 
management's estimations for establishing 
fair value is appropriate.  

In addition to our recommendation, an 
international expert has been identified and 
hired to determine individually the fair of the 
value as of 31.12.2017. His opinion confirmed 
the fair value of those assets. 

 

 

 

Management and Those Charged with Governance’s responsibility of the financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and for such internal control as 

management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the ability of the Bank 

to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 

the going concern basis of accounting, unless management either intends to liquidate the Bank or to 

cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process of the 

Bank. 

 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that 

includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 

an audit conducted in accordance with ISA’s will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
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aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 

the basis of these financial statements. 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 

professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 

obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 

one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control of the Bank. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 

exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on ability of the Bank 

to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 

required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial 

statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 

are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, 

future events or conditions may cause the Society to cease to continue as a going 

concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information Bank to 

express an opinion on financial statements. 

 

We communicate to those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 

internal control that we identified during our audit. 

 

We also provide those charged with governance a statement that we have complied with relevant 

ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other 

matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 

safeguards. 

 

From matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 

were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are 

therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 

regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 

determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 

consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of 

such communication. 

Moore Stephens KSC SRL     

Chișinău, Moldova 

30 March 2018 

For signature, please refer to the original Romanian version. 
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Common shares 

outstanding Additional capital Other reserves 

General reserves 

for banking risks 

Available-for- sale 

reserve 

Retained 

earnings Total 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 

        

Balance as at 1 January 2017  494,466   5   51,089   244,207   458  947,554  1,737,779  

        

 

Transfers  

    126,819    (126,819)  -    

 

Transactions with owners 

 494,466   5   51,089   371,026   458                  820,735    1,737,779  

        

        

Net profit for the current year                      363,766                 363,766  

        

Other elements of comprehensive 

income for the year, net of tax 
 

       

Net change of available-for-sale 

financial investments 
 

-                           -                              -                              -                               570                            -                           570  

Balance as at 31 December 2017 494,466 5 51,089 371,026 1,028 1,184,501 2,102,115 

        

        

Balance as at 1 January 2016 494,466 5 51,089 172,883 11,647 1,049,687 1,779,777 

 

Distributed Dividends 
   - - - - 

Transfers - - - 71,324 - (71,324) - 

        

Transactions with owners 494,466 5 51,089 244,207 11,647 978,363 1,779,777 

 

Net profit for the current year - - - - - 

 
161,498 

 

161,498 

        

Other elements of comprehensive 

income for the year, net of tax        

 

Net change of available-for-sale 

financial investment 

                                -                             -                              -                              -                       (11,189)                           -                   (11,189) 

 
Provisions      (192,307)             (192,307) 

 

Balance as at 31 December 2016 
494,466 5 51,089 244,207 458 947,554 1,737,779 

                The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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  Notes 2017 2016 

  MDL’000 MDL’000 

Operating activities    

Interest receipts  972,857  1,544,119  

Interest payments  (448,944)  (825,872) 

Net commission receipts  262,405  251,117  

Net financial and other operating income  128,102  154,454  

Staff costs paid  (254,238)  (220,178) 

Receipts from assets in possession  -  (360,323) 

Payments of general and administrative expenses  (178,797)  (201,664) 

Cash flows before working capital changes  481,385 341,653 

    

 (Increase / decrease) in current assets:    

Current accounts and deposits at NBM  (37)  58,141  

Current accounts and deposits at other banks  12,978  78,348  

Securities over 90 days  (118,440)  229,505  

Net Loans  1,429,166  1,613,053  

Other assets  6,668  (40,656) 

Increase /(decrease) in current liabilities:    

Due to banks  (27,507)  (22,566) 

Due to customers  631,193  (361,662) 

Other liabilities  20,903  6,396  

Net cash flow from operating activities before income tax  2,436,309  1,902,212 

    

Payments on income tax  - - 

Net cash flow from operating activities  2,436,309 1,902,212 

    

Investing activities    

Purchase of intangible assets  (5,690)  (4,230) 

Purchase of property and equipment  (7,153)  (38,439) 

Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment  217  62  

Proceeds from disposal of property investments  

Payments on investment securities   

- 

(368) 

 - 

-    

Proceeds on investment securities  -  20,518  

Net cash used in investing activities  (12,994)  (22,089) 

    

Financing activities    

Proceeds from loans and borrowings  166,411  368,400  

Payment of loans and borrowings  (400,438)  (1,230,103) 

Dividends paid  (2,878)  182  

Net cash from financing activities  (236,905)  (861,521) 

Profit / (loss) from net foreign exchange  19,060 (39,173) 

    

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  
 

2,205,470 979,429 

    

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  5,467,899 4,488,470 

    

    

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 21 7,673,369 5,467,899 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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1. Corporate information on the Bank  

BC Moldindconbank SA (hereinafter the Bank) was founded on October 1991 as a commercial and savings 

Bank, offering a large spectrum of services and banking products for all client categories through its 63 branches 

(2016: 63 branches). 

At the end of 2017, the Bank held the license issued by the National Bank of Moldova (hereinafter NBM), which 

allowed it to perform the entire range of activities. The Bank has 1,448 employees as at 31 December 2017 

(1468 employees from year ended 3 December 2016). 

The registered office of the Bank is located at 38, Armeneasca Street, Chisinau, Republic of Moldova. The Bank 

has a primary listing on the Stock Exchange of Moldova. 

By the decision of the Executive Committee no. 279 of October 20, 2016, the National Bank of Moldova applied 

to BC "Moldindconbank" SA early intervention measures, basing on the Law on recovery and resolution of 

banks no. 232 of 03.10.2016. Thus, by the indicated decision of the Executive Board of the NBM, from 20 

October 2016, 17:00, members of the Bank Board and some members of the Bank's Management Committee 

were replaced. 

As of December 31, 2017, the acting Board of Directors of the Bank is composed of 5 persons, temporary 

administrators appointed by the National Bank of Moldova: Chairman of the Bank Board – Mr. Giedrius 

Steponkus, members of bank’s board –  Aureliu Cincilei, Sorin Andrei, Anna Gheorghiu şi Elena Punga. 

The Managing Board is the executive body of the Bank that organizes, manages and is responsible for the  

current activity of the bank. The Managing Board is subordinated to the Board of Directors. 

Composition of the Bank's Management Board as of 31.12.2017: Chairman of the Bank's Board of Directors 

with the right to represent the bank in relations with third persons - Mr. Aureliu Cincilei (temporary 

administrator appointed by the National Bank of Moldova); the deputy presidents of the Bank's Board of 

Directors - Svetlana Magdaliuc and Iurie Ursu (temporary administrators appointed by the National Bank of 

Moldova). The position of First Deputy Chairman of the Bank's Board of Directors is further fulfilled by Mr. 

Victor Cibotaru. 

The activity of the temporary administrators appointed by the NBM shall be carried out in accordance with the 

provisions of Title III, Chapter III of the Law on bank recovery and resolution, other applicable laws, 

constitutive acts and internal acts of the bank to the extent that they do not contradict the powers of the 

temporary administrators and the provisions of the decision NBM Executive Board no. 279 of 20 October 2016, 

with the subsequent changes and supplements. 

The share capital of BC Moldindconbank SA is MDL’000 496,779 divided into 4,967,794 ordinary normative 

shares of I
st 

Class with voting right at nominal value of 100 lei / share. Ordinary normative shares issued by the 

Bank ISIN: MD14MICB1008 are admitted for trading on the regulated market at Moldova Stock Exchange 

(www.moldse.md).  

The structure of the shareholders and groups of persons acting in concert, whose shareholding in Bank's share 

capital is equal to or greater than the substantial shareholding (1%) and the actual beneficiaries of the statement 

as at 31 December 2017: 
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1. Corporate information on the Bank (continued) 

Structure of the Bank’s shareholders 
     

Shareholders (legal entities), whose shareholding is greater than 1%                                                                      
 

 2017                 2016  

 

1.2 6,119 6,119 1.2 Company "Dacado" S.R.L 

“Fera Management ” SRL 4.4 21,813 21,813 4.4 

ICS “Cassia Group” SRL  4.1 20,316 20,316 4.1 

“Verloc Development INC” SRL  4.5 22,437 22,437 4.5 

IM “Remington” SRL  4.5 22,353 22,353 4.5 

“Jet Business Limited” SRL 3.8 18,677 18,677 3.8 

SC “MVI” SRL 3.6    17,870* 17,869 3.6 

         

 26.1 129,585 129,584 26.1 

     

Shareholders (individuals), whose shareholding is greater than 1%                                                                        

 

9.1 44,992 44,986 9.1 Mîrzac Valerian 

Bauchina Irina 1.1 5,600 5,600 1.1 

Kontievski Iuri 4.4 21,992 21,992 4.4 

Mazina Ludmila 4.4 21,600 21,600 4.4 

Podvishevskyi Vitalii 4.3 21,508 21,508 4.3 

Murashkin Artur 4.3 21,434 21,434 4.3 

Tkachenko Sergey 4.3 21,267 21,267 4.3 

Velicikina Tatiana 4.3 21,108 21,108 4.3 

Ciuico Igor 4.3 21,121 21,121 4.3 

Chernyakov Volodymyr 4.4 21,609 21,609 4.4 

Nedoseichin Iuri 3.2 15,990 15,990 3.2 

Raducan Oleg 2.7 13,655 13,655 2.7 

Racoviţă Alexandru 2.5 12,312 12,312 2.5 

Golovcenco Serghei 2.4 11,915 11,915 2.4 

 55.7 276,103 276,097 55.7 

 

  Shareholders whose share does not exceed 1% 

Legal entities  7.9 39,226 36,181 7.3 

Individuals  9.9 49,551 52,604 10.5 

 17.8 88,777 88,785 17.8 

     

Treasury bills 0.4 2,314* 2,313 0.4 

         

Total 100 496,779 496,779 100 

*Posible modifications due to approximations  

By the Executive Committee Decision no.278 of October 20, 2016, the National Bank of Moldova, stated that 

the shareholders the bank -SRL „Jet Business Limited”, SRL „Verloc Development INC.”, SRL„Fera 

Management”, ÎM „Remington”SRL, ÎCS „Cassia Group”SRL, Mazina Liudmyla, Chernyakov Volodymyr, 

Podvishevskyi Vitalii, Ciuico Igor, Platon Veaceslav, Platon Nicolae, Uzun Maria, Kontievski Iuri, Murashkin 

Artur, Tkachenko Serghey, Velicikina Tatiana, Raducan Oleg, Racoviţă Alexandru, Golovcenco Serghei are 

acting in concert with respect to BC "Moldindconbank" S.A., have acquired and hold the substantial share 

(63.89%) in the bank's share capital without having the prior written permission of the National Bank of 

Moldova, according to the requirements of the Law on Financial Institutions, being applied the provisions of art. 
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15 paragraph 2. As result, starting with 20.10.2016 the exercise of certain rights of these shareholders, including 

the right to vote, was suspended. 

2. Basis of presentation 

2.1 Declaration of conformity 

The financial statements of the Bank have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

2.2. Valuation principles 

The financial statements have been prepared under the historic cost convention, except for derivative financial 

instruments and available-for-sale financial assets that have been measured at fair value. 

The preparation of the financial statements on a going concern basis requires management to make judgments, 

estimates and assumptions referring to income, expenses, assets, liabilities, cash flow, liquidity and capital 

requirement. 

Uncertainties on these assumptions and estimates could lead to results that require significant adjustments to 

assets, liabilities and capital requirements in future periods. 

The Bank recorded a net financial result of MDL'000 363,766 for the financial year ended 31 December 2017, 

while the capital adequacy ratio reported according to the National Bank of Moldova's regulations was 27.7 % 

(the minimum being 16%) at 31 December 2017. 

At the same time, based on the Bank’s business plan, management estimates a net profit for the financial year 

ending December 31, 2018 of MDL’000 300,219. 

Based on the above, the Bank's management has made an assessment of the Bank's capacity to continue its 

business in the near future, and concluded that the Bank will provide its business in the foreseeable future (at 

least 12 months from December 31, 2017) , under normal circumstances and thus the financial statements as at 

31 December 2017 were prepared on a going concern basis. 

2.3  Functional and presentation currency 

The financial statements are presented in Moldovan lei (“MDL”), which is also its functional currency and the 

currency of the country in which the Bank operates. All the financial information presented in MDL has been 

rounded to the nearest thousands, except when otherwise indicated. 

2.4 Significant assumptions and estimates 

The Bank makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the 

next financial year. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience 

and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 

circumstances. 

Estimates and basic assumptions are continually reviewed. The reviews of the accounting estimates are 

recognized in the period in which the estimate is reviewed and affect only that period, either during the review 

period or in future periods, if the review affects both the current and future periods. 
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2. Basis of preparation (continued) 

2.4 Significant assumptions and estimates (continued) 

(i) Impairment losses on loans 

The Bank reviews its loans and advances to assess impairment at least on a monthly basis. In determining 

whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the income statement, the Bank makes judgements as to 

whether there is any observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash 

flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrease can be identified with an individual loan in that portfolio. 

This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment 

status of one borrower in a group, or national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on assets 

in the group. 

Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and 

objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows. The 

methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed 

regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience of loans. 

Where the final outcome of these factors is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such 

differences could materially impact the provision for loan impairment in the period in which such determination 

is made. 

The loan loss is calculated for significant loans (to balance a further 30mln. MDL of the loan portfolio) 

individually, and other loans in the portfolio basis. For loans individually evaluated, first is determined present 

impairment factors. The impairment factors are client's financial difficulties, disputes with this client, extension 

or modification of the loan repayment schedule due to the impossibility of payment. 

In cases of interest or loan overdue payments of more than 90 days, it will be automatically considered that the 

loan is impaired. 

For valuing the depreciation amount, it is prepared the table of monthly cash flows expected from the credit 

performance, including the flows from the collateral, and the flows are updated using the effective interest rate. 

For collectively assessed loans, applies forecasting matrix is calculated according to statistical data of the bank. 

Matrix forecasting shall be drawn to separate groups of loans, grouped according to risk lending. Collective 

impairment provision is calculated as the product EAD * PD * LGD, 

where EAD – exposure at default 

PD - probability of default 

LGD - expected loss rate of default. 

Default probability is calculated based on the credit quality of bank data in the last 12 months prior to the 

calculation date. 

Loans separate portfolios fall into the following categories: 

• Loans with delay from 0 to 30 days 

• Loans with delay of 31 to 90 days 

• Loans with delay of 91 to 180 days 

Monthly credit migration from one category to another and final probability of becoming a credit outstanding 

over 90 days is the probability of default. 

The expected loss default rate (LGD) is calculated according to the statistics of realization of collateral, structure 

of the collateral portfolio and update of the recoverable amounts of the pledge by using the discount rate. 
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2.Basis of preparation (continued) 

2.4 Significant assumptions and estimates (continued) 

(ii) Business continuity 

The management has assessed the Bank's capacity to continue its business and considers that the Bank has 

resources to continue its business in the foreseeable future. Moreover, the management does not have 

information on the existence of significant uncertainty that may cause significant doubts about the Bank's 

capacity to continue its activity. Thus, the financial statements are prepared in accordance with the going 

concern principle. 

(iii) The fair value of financial instruments 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded on the active market is determined using the valuation 

techniques. Based on reasonable estimates, management chooses the valuation method considering the fact that 

these are made based on the existing circumstances at the reporting date. The evaluation of financial instruments 

is made in a detailed form in Note 32.  

3. Significant accounting policies 

3.1 Changes in accounting policies 

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year. The adoption of new 

standards and interpretations effective for the Bank from 1 January 2017 did not have any impact on the 

accounting policies, financial position or performance of the Bank. 

3.2 Summary of significant accounting policies 

a. Foreign currency translation 

Financial statements are presented in Moldovan lei (“MDL”), which is the functional and representation 

currency of the bank. 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency, using the exchange rates prevailing at 

the dates of the transactions. At the Balance Sheet date monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 

currency are translated in MDL using closing exchange rate. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from 

the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and 

liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the income statement. 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities registered at historical cost denominated in foreign currency are translated 

using the exchange rate at the date of the initial transaction. 

Income and losses in foreign currency arising from the revaluation of monetary assets and liabilities in foreign 

currency are reflected in the financial results report. 

Modifications in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currency classified as available for 

sale are analyzed between the differences arising from changes in the amortized cost of the security and other 

changes in carrying amount of the asset. Conversion differences related to changes in amortized cost are 

recognized in the income statement and other changes in carrying amount are recognized in equity. 

Exchange rates and average rates per year were: 

  2017 2016 

  USD Euro USD Euro 

      Average for the period  18.4902 20.8282 19.9238 22.0548 

Year ended  17.1002 20.4099 19.9814 20.8895 
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b. Financial assets 

The Bank classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or 

loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale financial assets. The 

Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition 

 

3.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

b. Financial assets (continued) 

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss account 

This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading and those designated at fair value through 

profit or loss account on initial recognition. 

A financial asset is considered held for trading if it is acquired or registered mainly for the purpose of selling or 

redeeming it in the short term, or it is part of identified financial instruments portfolio, that are managed together 

and for which there is evidence regarding the actual model of collecting short-term benefits. 

Derivative instruments are also classified as held for trading, except the cases they are designated as hedging 

instruments. 

Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives that are managed in relation to the 

designated financial assets or financial liabilities are included in the net income from financial instruments 

designated at fair value. 

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Bank does not have financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

account. 

(ii) Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 

quoted in an active market, other than: (a) those that the entity intends to sell immediately or in the short term, 

which are classified as held for trading, and those that the entity upon initial recognition designates as at fair 

value through profit or loss; (b) those that the entity upon initial recognition designates as available-for-sale; or 

(c) those for which the holder may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, other than because of 

credit deterioration. 

(iii) Held-to-maturity 

Held-to-maturity investments (HTM) are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 

and fixed maturities that the Bank’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. If the 

Bank would sell a significant amount of held-to-maturity assets, the entire category would be tainted and 

reclassified as available-for-sale.  

As at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, the Bank classifies the State Securities issued by the Ministry 

of Finance and the National Bank of Moldova as financial assets held to maturity.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(v) Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities 

Financial assets are derecognized in the following 

cases: 

• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; 

• The Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to 

pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” 

arrangement;  

• The Bank has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or the Bank has neither 

transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred the 

control of the asset. 

When the Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 

arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor 

transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the Bank’s continuing involvement in the assets. 

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of 

the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Bank could be 

required to repay. 

c. Financial liabilities 

The bank classifies financial liabilities as other liabilities, which are valued at amortized cost. 

d. Impairment of loans 

If there is objective evidence that the Bank will not be able to collect all amounts due (principal and interest) 

according to original contractual terms of the loan / receivables on financial leasing, such loans are considered 

impaired. The amount of the impairment loss is the difference between the loan’s carrying amount and the 

present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the loan’s original effective interest rate or is the 

difference between the carrying value of the loan and the fair value of collateral, if the loan / receivables on 

financial leasing is collateralized and foreclosure is probable. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

d. Impairment of loans (continued) 

Impairment and uncollectability are measured and recognised individually for loans and receivables that are 

individually significant, and on a portfolio basis for a group of similar loans and receivables that are not 

individually identified as impaired. If the Bank determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an 

individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets 

with similar credit risks characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are 

individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognized are not 

included in a collective assessment of impairment. 

The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial assets original effective 

interest rate. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the 

current effective interest rate. 

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its estimated recoverable amount by a charge to income through 

the use of a provision for loan impairment account. A write-off is made when all or part of a loan is deemed to 

be uncollectible, fully or partially. Write-offs are charged against previously established provisions for loan 

impairment and at the same time reduce the balance value of the loan and related payments. Recoveries of 

written off loans in prior periods are included in income through the transfer in the provision for impairment of 

credit amount. 

If the amount of the impairment subsequently decreases due to an event occurring after the write-down (such as 

an improvement of the debtor's credit rating), the release of the provision is credited to the provision for loan 

losses expense. 

For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of the Bank’s 

internal credit rating that considers credit risk characteristics such as industry, collateral type, past-due status and 

other relevant factors. Future cash flows on a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for 

impairment are estimated on the basis of historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics 

similar to those in the group. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are 

reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience. 

d. Offsetting financial instruments 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally 

enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the 

asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

e. Derivative financial instruments 

In the normal course of business, the Bank enters into contracts for financial instruments which represent 

instruments that require a very low or zero initial investment relative to the nominal value of the contracts. The 

derivative financial instruments used include interest rate and currency forward and swaps. These financial 

instruments are used by the Bank to hedge interest rate risk and currency exposures associated with its 

transactions in the financial markets. These instruments have not been designated as hedged items. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

e. Derivative financial instruments (continued) 

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognized in the balance sheet at fair value and carried as assets 

when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when their fair value is negative. Fair values are obtained from 

quoted market prices, discounted cash flow models and option pricing models as appropriate. These assets and 

liabilities are classified as held for trading. Changes in the fair value of derivatives held for trading are directly 

included in the income statement. 

f. Renegotiated loans 

Where possible, the Bank seeks to restructure loans rather than to take possession of collateral. This may involve 

extending the payment arrangements and the agreement of new loan conditions. Once the terms have been 

renegotiated, the loan is no longer considered past due. Management continuously reviews renegotiated loans to 

ensure that all criteria are met and that future payments are likely to occur. The loans continue to be subject to an 

individual or collective impairment simultaneously. 

g. Interest income and expense 

Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments are recognized in the income statement 

using the effective interest rate method. 

The effective interest rate method is a method of calculation the amortized cost of a financial asset or financial 

liability and of allocation interest income or interest expenses over the relevant period. 

The effective interest rate is the rate that updates exactly the payments or future cash receipts expected over the 

financial instrument estimated life, or, where appropriate, a shorter period at the net book value of the financial 

asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Bank estimates cash flows taking into 

consideration all the contractual terms of the financial instrument, without considering future credit losses. The 

calculation includes all commissions paid or charged between the contract parties, which are an integral part of 

the effective interest rate, transaction costs or other premiums or discounts. 

Once the value of a financial asset or group of financial assets has been reduced as a result of an impairment 

loss, interest income is recognized using the effective interest rate used to reduce future cash flows in order to 

value the impairment losses. 

The accrued interest on treasury bills was calculated for the period between the date of acquisition and the date 

on which the financial statements were prepared applying different interest rates for each issue. The interest 

expenses include calculated interest related to received deposits, current accounts, Loro accounts, loans, as well 

as interest on other bonds. 

h. Fee and commission income 

Fees and commissions are generally recognized on an accrual basis when the service has been provided. Loan  

commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down are deferred (together with related direct costs) and 

recognized as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on the loan. Commission and fees arising from 

negotiating, or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third party - such as the arrangement of the 

acquisition of shares or other securities or the purchase or sale of businesses - are recognized on completion of 

the underlying transaction. Portfolio and other management advisory and service fees are recognized based on 

the applicable service contracts, usually on a time-apportionment basis. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

i. Tangible assets 

All property and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure 

that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or are recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, 

only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Bank and the cost 

of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to other operating expenses 

during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their 

cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows: 

Tangible assets             Period  (years) 

   

Buildings     50-100 

Furniture 5-15 

Vehicles 5-15 

Modernization performed leased assets      1-10 

ATMs and POS terminals  3-10 

Computers and other assets 3-10 

Assets under construction are not depreciated until they are brought in use.  

At each date from the balance, residual value and useful life of the asset are to be revised, and, if necessary to be 

adjusted. Assets that are subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An asset’s carrying amount is written 

down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated 

recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in 

use. Gains and losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined by reference to their carrying 

amount. These are included in their operating expenses in the income statement. 

j. Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are valued as per the model based on the cost using straight line method. Acquired computer 

software licenses are capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific 

software. These costs are amortized using the straight-line method on the basis of the expected useful lives (two 

to twenty years). 

Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programs are recognized as an expense as 

incurred. Costs that are directly associated with the production of identifiable and unique software products 

controlled by the Bank, and that will probably generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, are 

recognized as intangible assets. Direct costs include software development employee costs and an appropriate 

portion of relevant overheads. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

k. Leases 

The leases entered into by the Bank are primarily operating leases. The total payments made under operating 

leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. When an 

operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be made to the lessor 

by way of penalty is recognized as an expense in the period in which termination takes place. 

l. Borrowings 

Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Subsequently, borrowings are 

stated at amortized cost and any difference between net proceeds and the redemption value is recognized in the 

income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. 

m. Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than three 

months’ maturity of the assets at acquisition dates including: cash, non-restricted balances with NBM, treasury 

bills, amounts due from other banks and amounts due from quick payment systems. 

n. Provisions 

Provisions and legal claims are recognized when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation to 

transfer economic benefits as a result of past events and it is more likely that an outflow of resources will be 

required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated. 

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is 

determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognized even if the likelihood of 

an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small. 

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation 

using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 

the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognized as interest expense. 

o. Treasury shares 

Own equity instruments of the Bank which are acquired by it (treasury shares) are deducted from equity and 

accounted for at weighted average cost. Consideration paid or received on the purchase, sale, issue or 

cancellation of the Bank’s own equity instruments is recognized directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognized 

in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancelation of own equity instruments. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

p. Employee benefits  

The Bank, in the normal course of business makes payments to the Moldovan State funds on behalf of its 

employees for pension, health care and unemployment benefit. All employees of the Bank are members of the 

State pension plan. The Bank does not operate any other pension scheme and, consequently, has no further 

obligation in respect of pensions. The Bank does not operate any other defined benefit plan or postretirement 

benefit plan. The Bank has no obligation to provide further services to current or former employees. 

q. Taxation 

Income tax payable on profits, based on the applicable Moldovan tax law, is recognized as an expense in the 

period in which profits arise. The tax effects of income tax losses available for carry forward are recognized as 

an asset when it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which these losses can be utilized. 

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the 

tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred income tax is 

determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date 

and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred income tax 

liability is settled. 

The principal temporary differences arise from depreciation of equipment, provisions for loans and advances to 

customers, other assets and other liabilities. The rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date 

are used to determine deferred income tax. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises 

from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time 

of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit nor loss. Deferred tax assets are recognized where 

it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized. 

The standard rate of income tax for 2017 is 12% (2016: 12%). 

r. Investment property 

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. After initial recognition 

investment property is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.  

Rental income and operating expenses from investment property are reported within other revenue and other 

expenses respectively. 

Bank's accounting policies do not expressly provide materiality of accounting elements. In order to ensure 

consistency of revenue and operating expenses related to investment properties materiality is determined based 

on professional judgment, taking into account the legal framework in force. 

s. Contingent assets and liabilities 

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the financial statements, but are submitted, except the cases when 

there is a probability of a resources outflow to settle the current liabilities. 

A contingent asset is not recognized in the financial statements but is submitted when it is probable that an 

outflow of economic benefits will occur. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

t. Affiliated entities 

The parties are considered affiliated with the Bank when one party, either through ownership, contractual rights, 

family relationship or otherwise, has the ability to control or significantly influence, directly or indirectly, the 

other party in making financial and operational decisions. 

Transactions with affiliated entities represent a transfer of resources or liabilities between related parties, 

regardless of whether a price is charged. 

u. Events subsequent to the balance sheet date 

Events subsequent to the balance sheet date are reflected in the financial statements if they provide additional 

information about the Bank's situation at the balance sheet date (events requiring adjustments), or indicate that 

the going concern assumption is inappropriate. Subsequent events that do not require adjustments are disclosed 

in the notes, if they are material.  

3.3 New and revised standards  

 (i) Standards and interpretations effective for the current reporting year  

The Bank has implemented the following standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretations issued 

by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) that are applicable for the current period: 

Amendments to IAS 12: Recognition of deferred tax liabilities for unrealized losses (changes). The amendments 

enter into force for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 and early application is permitted. The 

objective of these amendments is to clarify the requirements for deferred tax liabilities for unrealized losses in 

order to address the diversity in practice in applying IAS 12 Income Taxes. The problem is specific for the fact 

that there is diversity in practice which refers to the existence of a temporary deductible difference in the 

reduction of a fair value, the recovery of an asset at a value greater than its carrying amount, probable future 

taxable profits and valuation combined with the separate assessment. 

Amendments to IAS 7: Information Disclosure Initiative (Amendments). The amendments enter into force for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 and early application is permitted. The objective of these 

changes is to provide information that allows users of financial statements to assess changes in debt arising from 

financing activities, including changes occurring both from cash flows and non-cash items. The amendments 

specify that a way to meet the disclosure requirements is to provide a tabular reconciliation between the initial 

and the final balances in the financial position for the liabilities arising from financing activities, including 

changes in the cash flows of the finance business, changes resulting from the acquisition or loss of control of 

subsidiaries or other segments, the effect of changes in exchange rates, changes in fair value and other types of 

changes. 

Amendments to IAS 7: (issued on January 29, 2016 and entered into force as of January 1, 2017); 

Recognition of deferred tax liabilities for unrealized losses - Amendments to IAS 12 (issued on 19 January 2016 

and entered into force from 1 January 2017); 

Amendment to IFRS 12 included in the Annual Improvements to IFRSs for the 2014-2016 cycle (issued on 

December 8, 2016 and effective as of January 1, 2017) 
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(ii) Standards and interpretations issued but not yet in force and not yet adopted 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Valuation. The Standard enters into force for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2018 and early application is permitted. The final version of IFRS 9 Financial 

Instruments reflects all phases of the Financial Instruments Project and replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement and all previous versions of IFRS 9. The Standard introduces new requirements 

for classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. 

The Standard will affect the classification and measurement of financial assets held on 1 January 2018 as 

follows: 

- held-to-maturity investments, loans and receivables to be subsequently measured at amortized cost; 

- Investments available for sale are to be subsequently measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income. 

As of the issuance of these financial statements, the Bank's Management has estimated an impact of MDL'000 

21,633 (Note 38. Subsequent Events) on the financial statements, following the implementation of IFRS 9 

starting with January 1, 2018, due in particular to the changeover standard requirements. This amount is 

preliminary because not all IT control tests have been finalized up to now. 

 In accordance with the requirements set out in IFRS 9, a financial asset should be classified on the basis of: 

- the Bank's business model for asset management (Business Model Test); 

- the characteristics of the contractual cash flow of the financial asset (SPPI Test). 

 IFRS 9 sets out a new three-step depreciation model based on the significant increase in credit risk of a financial 

asset since its initial recognition. These three steps then determine the amount of the impairment loss to be 

recognized as expected loss of credit (PPC) at each reporting date. 

Stage 1: Credit risk has not increased significantly since / since initial recognition of the instrument - The Bank 

recognizes PPC for a period of 12 months and interest income will be calculated at the gross balance; 

Stage 2: Credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition of the instrument - the Bank recognizes 

PPPs throughout their life, and interest income will be calculated at the gross balance; 

Stage 3: Financial asset is significantly impaired - The bank recognizes PPCs over life, and interest income will 

be calculated at net book value (book value less impairment loss). 

The economic factors taken into account for estimating PD-lifetime and LGD-lifetime were selected based on 

multiple simulations that have identified the most powerful macroeconomic correlations (dependencies) such as: 

(i) For Corporate segments - Producer prices under construction + Gross investment in long-term asset assets - 

The model is used for the two corporate segments. 

(ii) For Consumption Loan segments - Gross investment in long-term assets + interest rate on loans + 

unemployment rate - The model is used for the three consumer credit segments (TS, TM, TL) 

 For Mortgage Loans - Gross investment in long-term assets + GDP (GDP) + Producer prices in 

construction 

 For Overdrafts - Portfolio Dynamics + Nominal Salary. 

The CCF calculated for credit segments is presented in the table below: 

Segment Criteria CCF[t] 

1 and 2 Corporate over 140,000 EUR and Corporate under 140,000 EUR 26.50% 

3 Retail credit cards 33.00% 

4 Overdrafts retail 34.50% 

 
For other portfolio segments which were not identified 100% 
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(ii) Standards and interpretations issued but not yet in force and not yet adopted (continued) 

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers (clarifications). Clarifications shall be applied for annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 and early application is permitted. The purpose of the clarifications 

is to explain the IASB's intentions when elaborating the requirements of IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with 

customers, in particular, the accounting for the identification of execution obligations, modifying the formulation 

of the "identifiable distinct" asset principle, the trustee and mandate considerations, the fact that an entity acts as 

a trustee or a trustee, as well as the application of the control and licensing principle, providing additional 

guidance on the accounting of intellectual property and royalties. Clarifications also provide for additional 

practical solutions available to entities that either apply IFRS 15 completely retrospectively or choose to apply 

the modified retrospective approach. Management estimates that the effect of these clarifications on the financial 

statements will be insignificant. 

IFRS 16: Leases. The Standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. IFRS 16 

establishes principles for the recognition, valuation, presentation and disclosure. The standard stipulates a unique 

accountant model of the tenant, which imposes the tenants to recognize assets and liabilities for all the leasing 

contracts, excepting the case where the leasing term is 12 months or less or the value of the support asset is 

small. Tenants continue to classify leasing as operational or financial, as per IFRS 16 looking to tenant’s 

accounting, in essence, remaining unchanged compared to its predecessor IAS 17. Management estimates that 

the effect of these clarifications on the financial statements will be insignificant. 

IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts. The Standard enters into force for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2021 and replaces IFRS 4. It requires that insurance liabilities be valued at a present value and provides a more 

uniform measurement and disclosure approach for all insurance contracts. These requirements are designed to 

achieve the objective of consistent accounting and principles based on insurance contracts. 

Amendments to IFRS 15: Income from contracts with customers. The amendments enter into force for annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 and are made to clarify three aspects of the standard (identifying 

performance obligations, principal versus agent and licensor) and providing some transition facilities for 

modified contracts and contracts concluded. 

Amendments to IFRS 2: Classification and measurement of share-based payment transactions. The amendments 

shall enter into force for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 and early application is permitted. 

The amendments provide for requirements to account for the effects of the necessary conditions for vesting and 

the effects of revocable vesting conditions on the valuation of cash-settled share-based payment transactions, 

share-based payment transactions with the net settlement feature of the source taxation as well as for changes to 

the terms and conditions applicable to share-based payment that change the classification of the transaction from 

the cash settlement transaction to the equity-settled settlement transaction. The management has estimated that 

these changes will not have an effect on the financial statements. 

IAS 40: Transfers to Investment Property (Amendment). The amendments enter into force for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2018 and early application is permitted. Changes clarify when an entity must 

transfer real estate, including real estate under construction or development, into or out of real estate investment. 

The amendment foresees that a change in use occurs when the property meets or no longer meets the definition 

of real estate investment and there is evidence of change in use. A mere change of management's intention to use 

a building does not provide evidence of a change in use. The management has estimated that these changes will 

not have a significant impact on the financial statements. 

FRIC Interpretation 23: Uncertainty about income tax treatment. Interpretation becomes effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, this does not yet apply for application in EU countries. 
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(ii) Standards and interpretations issued but not yet in force and not yet adopted (continued) 

Interpretation refers to the determination of taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax 

credits and tax rates when there is uncertainty about the treatment of income tax under IAS 12. 

IFRIC Interpretation 22: Foreign currency transactions and prepayments. The interpretation shall become 

effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 and early application is permitted. 

Interpretation clarifies how transactions that include the receipt or payment of foreign currency advances, are 

recorded. Interpretation covers foreign currency transactions for which the entity recognizes a non-monetary 

asset or a non-monetary liability arising from the payment or receipt of an advance amount before the entity 

recognizes the asset, expense or related income. 

The Interpretation provides that, in determining the exchange rate, the transaction date is the date of initial 

recognition of the non-cash asset paid in advance or the deferred income debt. If there are multiple payments or 

receipts made in advance, then the entity must determine a transaction date for each payment or cash advance. 

The management has estimated that these changes will not have a significant effect on the financial statements. 

The Bank has decided not to apply these standards, amendments and interpretations before the effective date on 

which they enter into force. 

The following new pronouncements will not have a significant impact on the bank when adopted: 

 Sale or contribution of assets between an investor and an associate - Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 

28 (issued on September 11, 2014 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be 

determined by the IASB). 

 Amendments to IFRS 4, Insurance Contracts (issued on September 12, 2016 and effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018). 

 Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 - Amendments to IFRS 1 and IAS 28 (issued on December 

8, 2016 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018). 

 Early Payments with Negative Compensation - Amendments to IFRS 9 (issued on October 12, 2017 

and effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019). 

 Long-term interests in joint ventures - Amendments to IAS 28 (issued on 12 October 2017 and effective 

for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019). 

 Annual amendments to IFRS from the period 2015-2017 - Amendments to IFRS 3, IFRS 11, IAS 12 

and IAS 23 (issued December 12, 2017 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 

2019). 

 

4. Cash and balances at National Bank 

 2017 2016 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 

   

Cash on hand  1,249,155   939,317  

Current account at National Bank   2,649,677   2,263,099  

Obligatory reserve  584,689   577,272  

   

 4,483,521 3,779,688 

Current account and obligatory reserves 

Based on the decision Nr. 85 by the Administrative Council of NBM dated April 15, 2004 and subsequent 

amendments, NBM requires from commercial banks to maintain a calculated reserve with a certain percentage 

from medium attracted resources in the last month, including the client’s deposits, in order to insure the bank’s 

liquidity. Funds attracted in Moldovan Lei (MDL) and in non-convertible currencies are reserved in MDL. Funds 
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attracted in freely convertible currencies are reserved in US Dollars (USD) and/or EURO (EUR). 

4. Cash and balances at National Bank (continued) 

During 2017, the NBM Regulation on mandatory reserves was not changed. As at 31 December 2017, the 

reserve ratio for the minimum reserve volume was 40% for the resources attracted in MDL and the non-

convertible currency and 14% for the resources attracted in convertible currency (31 December 2016: 35% for 

the resources attracted in MDL and the non-convertible currency and 14% for resources attracted in convertible 

currency). 

The Bank maintains its obligatory reserves in a current account opened with the NBM in amount of 35% of 

funds attracted in Moldovan Lei and non-convertible currencies. 14% reserves on funds denominated in USD 

and EUR are held in a special obligatory reserve account with NBM.  

As at December 31, 2017 the balance in the current account held with the NBM amounted to MDL’000 

2,642,385 (December 31, 2016: MDL’000 2,263,099) and includes obligatory reserve on funds attracted in 

Moldovan Lei and non-convertible currencies amounted to MDL’000 2,750,332. The balance reserved on USD 

and EUR obligatory reserve accounts amounted to USD’000 11,944 and EUR’000 18,636 respectively 

(December 31, 2016: USD’000 10,814 and EUR’000 17,291).  

The interest paid by NBM on the obligatory reserves during 2017 varied between 0.30% and 0.60 per annum for 

reserves in foreign currency and between 4.0% and 6.0% % for reserves in MDL (During 2016 – between 0.20% 

and 0.65% in foreign currency and 6.0 % and 16.5%  for reserves in  MDL).  

The obligatory reserves held in the current account at NBM are available for use in the Bank’s day to day 

operations. 

5. Current accounts and deposits with banks 

 2017 2016 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 

Current accounts  1,354,945              558,549  

Deposits  64,548                80,111  

 1,419,493 638,660 

Less: Discount for loss of value (64,548) (68,763) 

 1,354,945           569,897  

During 2017, in order to optimize the network of correspondent banks and in order to reduce the country's risk, 

14 correspondent accounts of NOSTRO of the Bank and 8 LORO correspondent accounts were closed. At the 

same time, new Nostro correspondent accounts were opened. 

 

6. Financial investments - held to maturity 

 2017 2016 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 

   

State securities  3,188,360  2,328,421 

   

  3,188,360  2,328,421 

   

Less: discount premiums for state securities  (34,003) (46,078) 

   

  3,154,357  2,282,343 

Investments in state securities as of 31 December 2017 represent MDL treasury bills of 91 to 1096 days original 

maturity, issued by the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Moldova with an interest rate between 5.16% and 

13% p. a. Certificates issued by the NBM are of 14 days original maturity with an interest rate of 6.5% p.a. As at 

31 December 2017 the Bank does not have pledged state investment securities. 
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7. Net Loans 

 2017 2016 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 

   

Corporate loans 653,720  3,500,715  

Loans to small and medium sized businesses 4,206,200  3,008,930  

Consumer loans 1,077,048  962,666  

Mortgage 505,316  397,804  

Loans, gross 6,442,284 7,870,115 

   

Less: losses on loans (1,075,740) (984,257) 

   

 5,366,544 6,885,858 

As of 31 December 2017 the gross book value of loans includes accrued interest on impaired loans in the amount 

of MDL’000 67,306 (2016: MDL’000 38,783). 
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7.  Loans, net (continued) 

 

Analysis of loan portfolio by industry sectors is presented below: 

 2017 2016 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 

   

Trade 1,994,586  2,730,023      

Food industry 323,759  375,024      

Services 650,578  820,984      

Agriculture 472,295  605,736      

Light industry 158,553  54,681      

Consumer loans 1,582,364  1,360,471      

Real estate/ manufacture of building materials 273,808  476,005      

Transportation 81,075  136,798      

Telecommunication 179,527  138,393      

Machine building industry 26,997  47,558      

Chemical industry 38,996  88,382      

Financial activity, insurance 280,911  385,108      

Energetic sector 333,906  593,302      

Wood processing industry 7,022  13,407      

Other 37,907  44,243      

   

 6,442,284 7,870,115 

The average interest rate during the year 2017 for loans granted in MDL is 10.15% (2016: 15.54%), in foreign 

currencies 5.42% (2016: 6.71%). 

Losses on loans provision 

The movement in provision for impairment of loans during the years 2017 and 2016 are presented below: 

 Collective provision   

 Corporate 

Small and 

Medium 

Business Consumer Mortgage 

Individuall

y 

impaired Total 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 

       

As at 1 January 

2017 
 69,186   87,944   24,715   8,464   793,948   984,257  

Write-offs       

Recoveries  3,994 1,668 415 19,153 25,230 

Charge for the 

year 

(58,299) 70,248 24,742 7,083 22,479 66,253 

       

As at 31 

December 2017 

 10,887   162,186  51,125 15,962  835,580   1,075,740  
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7. Loans, net (continued) 

 Collective provision   

 Corporate 

Small and 

Medium 

Business Consumer Mortgage 

Individually 

impaired Total 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 

       

As at 1 January 

2016 
 4,707   9,663   6,144   2,077   563,582   586,173  

Write-offs     (288)  (125,074)  (125,362) 

Recoveries  148   9,228   2,384   95   51,480   63,335  

Charge for the 

year 

 64,331  69,053 16,187  6,580   303,960   460,111  

       

As at 31 

December 2016 

 69,186   87,944  24,715 8,464  793,948   984,257  

 

Allowances for impairment 

The Bank establishes an allowance for impairment losses that represents its estimation regarding incurred losses 

in its loan portfolio. The main components of this allowance are a specific loss component that relates to 

individually significant exposures, and a collective loan loss allowance established for groups of homogeneous 

assets in respect of losses that have been incurred but have not been identified on loans subject to individual 

assessment for impairment. 

Write off policy 

The Bank writes off a loan balance (and any related allowance for impairment losses) when the Bank determines 

that the loans are uncollectible. This determination is reached after considering information such as the 

occurrence of significant changes in the borrower financial position such that the borrower can no longer pay the 

obligation, or that proceeds from collateral will not be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure. 
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8. Financial investments - available-for-sale 

   
2017 

 
2016 

 
Activity field 

Ownership, 

% 
MDL’000 

Ownership, 

% 
MDL’000 

  
    

Moldovan Stock exchange Securities 2.56 7 2.56 7 

Visa INC 
Processing of 

transactions 

0.00003 1,545 0.00003 

 

1,237 

CA Auto-Assurance SA Insurance 0.43 77 0.43 77 

National depositary Securities 6.31 156 6.31 156 

SWIFT 
Processing of 

transactions 

0.01 1,048 0.01 989 

Biroul de credit SRL Data centralization 8.93 1,358 8.93 1.358 

Mobiasbanca Societe generale SA Banking N/A 0.548 N/A 0.3 

  
 4.191  3.824 

The fair value of the available-for-sale investments in VISA INC are valued using a valuation technique based 

on market quotations published by Bloomberg. For determining the fair value of these assets the Bank applies 

hierarchy level 1. 

The fair value of available-for-sale investments in SWIFT is made annually after the issuer's Annual General 

Meeting. 

The movements in the available-for-sale investments are presented below: 

 2017 2016 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 

   

As at  1 January  3,824   36,109  

Inputs  717   

Fair value changes  367   7,205  

Outputs  (717)  (39,490) 

   

As at  31 December 4,191  3,824  
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9. Tangible assets 

 

 Land Buildings 

Furniture and 

equipment Motor vehicles 

Assets under 

construction Total 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 

Cost        

Balance as at 1 January 2017  320   163,491   198,409   27,646   7,266   397,132  

Inputs  816   (816)    19,716   19,716  

Transfers   3,197   18,501   664   (22,362)  -    

Outputs   (1,537)  (3,024)  (792)   (5,353) 

Balance as at 31 December 2017  1,136   164,335   213,886   27,518   4,620   411,495  

       

Accumulated depreciation       

Balance as at 1 January 2017 - 47,881 93,202 14,858 - 155,941 

Charge for the year  6,723 21,429 2,316  30,468 

Outputs  (1,328) (2,977) (717)  (5,022) 

Balance as at 31 December 2017 - 53,276 111,654 16,457  181,387 

       

Impairment       

Balance as at 1 January 2017       

Annual expense 801 11,647    12,448 

Outputs       

Balance as at 31 December 2017 801 11,647    12,448 

       

Net book value       

At 31 December 2017  335   99,412   102,232   11,061   4,620   217,660  

At 31 December 2016  320   115,610   105,207   12,788   7,266   241,191  

On December 31, 2017, the cost of fully depreciated tangible fixed assets, still used by the Bank, amounted to MDL'000 14,814 (December 31, 2016: MDL'000 8,627). During 

2017, the fixed assets valuation was carried out by "Ecofin-Consult-Evaluation" LLC, as a result of which the Bank recognized the impairment of tangible assets in the amount of 

MDL 12,448 thousand. As of December 31. 2017  the tangible assets were not encumbered by rights and did not serve as pledged assets. As of December 31, 2016, some assets of 

the Bank in the amount of MDL'000 151,892 were seized under a court order. On 31.12.2017, there is a final (enforceable) judgment on the lifting of the previously applied seizure, 

and the removal of the seizure will be entered in the Registry.
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9. Tangible assets (continued) 

 

 Land Buildings 

Furniture and 

equipment Motor vehicles 

Assets under 

construction Total 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 

Cost        

Balance as at 1 January 2016  320   157,176   182,250   26,644   5,891   372,281  

Inputs  -   -   -   -   38,731   38,731  

Transfers  -   6,411   29,691   1,254   (37,356)  -    

Outputs   -   (96)  (13,532)  (252)  -   (13,880) 

Balance as at 31 December 2016  320   163,491   198,409   27,646   7,266   397,132  

       

Accumulated depreciation       

Balance as at 1 January 2016  -     41,130   85,982   12,650   -     139,762  

Charge for the year  -     6,847   17,708   2,351   -     26,906  

Disposals  -     (96)  (10,488)  (143)  -     (10,727) 

Balance as at 31 December 2016  -     47,881   93,202   14,858   -     155,941  

       

Net book value       

At 31 December 2016  320   115,610   105,207   12,788   7,266   241,191  

At 31 December 2015  320   116,046   96,268   13,994   5,891   232,519  

As at 31 December 2016, the cost of fully depreciated property and equipment still used by the Bank was MDL’000 8,627  (as at 31 December 2015: MDL’000 11,568). On 31 

December 2016, the tangible assets were not pledged.  
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10. Intangible assets 

 Software Licenses Total 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 

Cost    

Balance as at 1 January 2017  41,840   49,944   91,784  

Inputs  4,340   1,350   5,690  

Outputs  (160)  (23)  (183) 

Balance as at 31 December 2017  46,020   51,271   97,291  

    

Accumulated depreciation    

Balance as at 1 January 2017  22,604   13,975   36,579  

Charge for the year  6,281   1,638   7,919  

Disposals  (160)  (23)  (183) 

Balance as at 31 December 2017  28,725   15,590   44,315  

    

Depreciation    

Balance as at 1 January 2017    

Charge for the year 8,000 - 8,000 

Disposals    

Balance as at 31 December 2017                       8,000 - 8,000 

    

Net book value    

As at 31 December 2017  9,295   35,681   44,976  

As at 31 December 2016  11,236   35,969   47,205  

As at 31 December 2017, the cost of fully depreciated intangible assets constituted MDL'000 7,276 

(31 December 2016: MDL’000 1,600). As at 31 December 2017 intangible assets were not pledged. 

 Software Licenses Total 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 

Cost    

Balance as at 1 January 2016  35,537   54,200   89,737  

Inputs  6,951   3,926   10,877  

Outputs  (648)  (8,182)  (8,830) 

Balance as at 31 December 2016  41,840   49,944   91,784  

    

Accumulated depreciation    

Balance as at 1 January 2016  19,056   11,207   30,263  

Charge for the year  3,548   4,951   8,499  

Disposals  -     (2,183)  (2,183) 

Balance as at 31 December 2016  22,604   13,975   36,579  

    

Depreciation    

Balance as at 1 January 2016    

Charge for the year 8,000 - 8,000 

Disposals    

Balance as at 31 December 2016                       8,000 - 8,000 

    

Net book value    

As at 31 December 2016  11,236   35,969   47,205  

As at 31 December 2015  16,481   42,993   59,474  

As at 31 December 2016, the cost of fully depreciated intangible assets constituted MDL'000 1,600 (December 

31, 2015: MDL'000 596). As at 31 December 2016 intangible assets were not pledged. 
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11.  Other assets 

 2017 2016 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 

   

Settlements with legal entities and individuals  163,299   163,166  

Accrued non interested related receivable  2,484   2,060  

Settlements with currency transactions  11,263   42,480  

Other prepaid expenses  2,245   2,654  

Other settlements with budget  26,263   48,244  

Receivables from international money transfer systems  55,655   46,899  

Inventory and spare parts  10,783   18,584  

Receivables from cards transactions  48,653   22,517  

Settlements related to intangible assets  706   5  

Prepayments for capital investments  -     117  

Other assets 26,734  1,315  

 348,085 348,041 

   

Less: Provision for other assets impairment (123,762) (114,362) 

   

 224,323 233,679 

From the total amount of the settlements with other individuals and legal entities as at 31 December 2017, 

MDL’000 101,037 (31 December 2016: MDL’000 108,059) represent the receivables related to the contracts  

related to selling of other assets, which are depreciated in amount of 100%. 

12.  Assets in possession / ownership 

 2017 2016 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 

Assets in possession/ownership  360,744  360,745 

  360,744  360,745 

 - - 

Less: Provision for impairment on borrowers (58,164) (34,899) 

Assets in possession/ownership, net 302,580 325,846 

Assets held by the Bank in the amount of MDL 302,580 thousand were subject to revaluation by Winterhill 

International Company, which confirmed their fair value and the balance sheet value recognized by the Bank. 

For the other assets held by the bank in the amount of MDL 58,164 thousand, the bank recognized impairment 

provisions of 100%. 
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12. Other assets in possession / ownership (continued) 

The reserve movement for doubtful debts is as follows: 

 2017 2016 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 

As at 1 January 2017  149,260  124,551 

Charge for the year  31,893  132,243 

Recoveries  (27,292) (47,444) 

Write-offs  92,614  (60,090) 

As at 31 December 246,475 149,260 

13. Due to banks 

Loro Accounts 

 2017 2016 

Bank name MDL’000 MDL’000 

   

BC „Eurocreditbank” SA                                                                                          4,109   15,121  

ZAO Baltika Bank, Sankt-Peterburg, Russia -  23,495  

ZAO INTERPROMBANK,Moscova,  Russia  283   26  

Banca Translivania S.A., Cluj-Napoca, Romania  8,664   623  

BC „Banca Socială” S.A. into liquidation process -  673  

BC „Unibank” S.A. into liquidation process -  625  

   

Total Liabilities to banks 13,056 40,563 

   

14. Other borrowings 
 2017 2016 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 

Subsidiary loans    

DLC loans with floating rate due 2017/2026  563,915  762,321 

AID loans with floating rate due 2020  809  1,412 

FIDA loans with floating rate due 2017/2023  38,832 62,610 

MCA Moldova loans with floating rate due 2017/2021  25,718  38,555 

 629,275 864,898 

Loans from IFO and Banks   

EBRD loans with floating rate due 2016/2020 - - 

FMO Netherlands loans with floating rate due 2017/2020 - - 

BSTDB loans with floating rate due 2017 - - 

 - - 

Loans from National Bank   

Loans with floating rates due 2016/2018  108  356 

  108  356 

   

 629,383 865,254 

The Bank had no outstanding payments related to principal and interest and reimbursed all payments according 

to the schedule established in the agreement. 
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15. Due to customers 

 2017 2016 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 

Enterprises   

Current accounts  2,181,864  1,734,843 

Term deposits  601,735  701,145 

   

 2,783,599 2,435,988 

Individuals   

Current accounts  3,380,869  1,411,112 

Term deposits  5,840,200  7,539,448 

   

 9,221,069 8,950,560 

   

 
12,004,668 11,386,548 

As of December 31. 2017 the top 10 corporate legal depositors held a share of 24.4% (31 December 2016: 25.7%) of 

the total amount of deposits of legal entities, which is the equivalent of MDL'000 678,148 (31 December 2016 : 

MDL'000 624,938). 

As of December 31, 2017, the first 10 individuals-depositors held a share of about 1.9% of the total amount of the 

deposits of individuals (31 December 2016 - 2.4%), which is the equivalent of MDL'000 177,361 (on 31 December 

2016 - MDL'000 215,883) 

The term deposits portfolio of the Bank does not include deposits that offer the right to terminate the deposit 

agreement in advance with the payment of the calculated interest. For such deposits, in case of early termination of 

the contract, the calculated interest is not paid. 

From the deposits portfolio of legal entities MDL’000 3,050 represent the deposits of legal entities in insolvency 

process, which are registered in special accounts, which, according to the legislation in force, are exempt from 

enforcement measures. 

 

The annual interest rates paid by the Bank for the MDL and FCY deposits of individuals and companies ranged as 

follows: 

 2017 2016 

 MDL FCY MDL FCY 

 %  % %  % %  % %  % 

Legal entities             

Demand deposits 0,00  0,00 0,00 - 0,00  - 0.00 0.00 - 0.00 

Term deposits up to 3 months 1,00  3,00 0,00 - 0,00  - 3.00 0.00 - 0.00 

Term deposits >3 months < 1 year  4,50  6,50 0,50 - 2,00  - 9 1.5 - 2 

Term deposits over 1 year 6,75  9,00 1,50 - 3,50  - 10.5 1 - 3.5 

             

Individuals             

Demand deposits 0,00  4,00 0,00 - 4,00  - 0.00 0.00 - 0.00 

Term deposits up to 3 months 1,00  4,00 - - -  - 17.00 - - - 

Term deposits >3 months<1 year 3,00  6,00 0,10 - 1,75  - 18.00 1.00 - 3.75 

Term deposits over 1 year 5,00  7,50 0,40 - 3,00  - 18.50 0.50 - 4.50 
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16. Taxation 

The major components of tax expense and the reconciliation of the expected tax expense based on the effective 

tax rate in 2017 of 12% (2016: 12%) and the reported tax expense in profit or loss are as follows: 

 2017 2016 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 

   

Profit before tax 398,799 162,996 

Moldovan statutory income tax rate 12% 12% 

Expected tax expense  47,856  19,560 

   

Income not subject to tax /non-deductible expenses (11,311) (19,560) 

Impact of tax facilities application   

Actual tax expense - - 

 36,545 (0) 

Tax expense comprises:   

   

Current tax expense 36,545    - 

Recalculation of previous years tax  -    - 

Deferred tax expense: (1,512) 1,498 

As at 31 December 35,033 1,498 

 

At 31 December 2017, deferred taxes arising from 

temporary differences are summarized as follows: 

 

Deferred tax receivables (liabilities) 2017 

Recognized 

in profit and 

loss 

Recognized 

in equity 2016 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000  

  

MDL’000 

Assets     

Tangible assets (10,584) (67) 

 

(10,517) 

Financial assets held for sale (66) - (37) (29) 

Total assets (10,650) (67) (37) (10,546) 

Liabilities     

Provisions for employee benefits 1,045 (405)  1,450 

Provisions for possible losses 27,951 1,984 25,572 395 

Total liabilities 28,996 1,579 25,572 1,845 

     

As at 31 December 18,346 1,512 25,535 (8,701) 

Recognised as:     

Deferred tax asset 25,572  25,572  

Deferred tax liability (7,226) 1,512 (37) (8,701) 
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16. Taxation (continued) 

Deferred tax was calculated by applying the 2017 standard tax rate of 12% (2016: 12%). According to the Law 

No. 71 of 12.04.2015, changes were made to Article 31, par. (2) "Limiting other deductions" of the Tax Code, the 

deduction for tax purposes related expenses for losses on assets and other commitments.  

According to the letters addressed to the Main State Tax Inspectorate no.06-09 / 26/4028 of 05/08/2016, no.06 / 

08-01 / 29- / 4591 of 09.09.2016 and no. 06-09 / -38 of 25.10.2016, were offset from the amounts paid in addition 

to the income tax in the national public budget, in the year 2015 by transferring payments from one type of 

payment to another the amount of MDL’000 19,826. 

 

 

17. Other Liabilities 

 2017 2016 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 

   

Interest received but not earned  8   105  

Received money from international transfers  2,310   2,374  

Amounts with identified character  1,423   5,822  

Card operations  29,261   11,126  

Other settlements with the budget  231   295  

Settlements with other individuals and legal entities  3,072   7,743  

Provision for possible losses (Note 29)  231,008   3,296  

Settlements with purchase/sale of currency  253   45  

Creditors on documentary settlements  28,404   30,332  

Cash receipts through bags  109   19  

Settlements with other state funds  7,265   5,245  

Settlements with Deposit Guarantee Fund  1,917   1,716  

Provision for unused vacation  8,710   12,080  

Dividends  3,693   6,565  

IFO grants  -     23  

Inherited liabilities of banks in liquidation  24,477   25,580  

Other liabilities  35,099   24,731  

   377,240  137,095  

At the situation from 31.12.2017 the Bank has recognized provisions in amount of MDL’000 231,008, relating 

the trial with Zapadnii Bank and following the decision of NBM’s executive committee from April 13, 2017 to 

recognize the provision in amount of 100 % from the litigation value. At the moment, the trial is ongoing. 

In the structure of creditors regarding the documentary settlements, were registered the blocking / reserving of 

the money means for the issue of the bank guarantees for the purposes of ensuring the fulfillment of the bonds, 

the amount of which makes MDL’000 28,404. 

At 31 December 2017 in the composition of other liabilities were recorded customer bank balances taken from 

banks in liquidation “Banca de Economii" S.A., BC "Unibank" S.A. and BC "Social Bank" S.A., which makes 

up the total amount MDL’000 24,477. Answering bank account balances was conducted based on the letter 

NBM no. 09-02114 / 315/3562 of September 24, 2015 concerning the transfer of the three bank bonds in 

liquidation and agreements between banks. 

As at 31.12.2017, in the structure of other liabilities, were registered other expected income, receivables, 

payments received for transfer by destination and other liabilities that can not be reflected in other accounts, the 

total amount of which is MDL’000 35,099, representing mainly liabilities towards legal entities and individuals. 
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18. Share capital 

 

 2017 2016 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 

Share capital is comprised of:   

Issued ordinary stock 496,779 496,779 

Ordinary treasury shares (2,313) (2,313) 

 494,466 494,466 

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, share capital constituted MDL’000 496,779 and is divided in 

4,967,794 ordinary authorized shares of Class I with a nominal value of MDL 100 per share. 

 

 

Shareholders structure of the Bank 

 
 

2017 2016 

                        MDL’000 MDL’000 

Shareholders (enterprises), with the quote more than 1%   

 

Company "Dacado"S.R.L 6,119 1.2 6,119 1.2 

“Fera Management ” SRL 21,813 4.4 21,813 4.4 

ICS “Cassia Group” SRL  20,316 4.1 20,316 4.1 

“Verloc Development INC” SRL  22,437 4.5 22,437 4.5 

IM “Remington” SRL  22,353 4.5 22,353 4.5 

“Jet Business Limited” SRL 18,677 3.8 18,677 3.8 

SC “MVI” SRL 17,870 3.6 17,869 3.6 

 129,585 26.1 129,584 26.1 

     

Shareholders (individuals), with a quote more than 1%   

Mîrzac Valerian  44,992   9.1     44,986  9.1 

Bauchina Irina  5,600   1.1  5,600 1.1 

Kontievski Iuri  21,992   4.4  21,992 4.4 

Mazina Ludmila  21,600   4.4  21,600 4.4 

Podvishevskyi Vitalii  21,508   4.3  21,508 4.3 

Murashkin Artur  21,434   4.3  21,434 4.3 

Tkachenko Sergey  21,267   4.3  21,267 4.3 

Velicikina Tatiana  21,108   4.3  21,108 4.3 

Ciuico Igor  21,121   4.3  21,121 4.3 

Chernyakov Volodymyr  21,609   4.4  21,609 4.4 

Nedoseichin Iuri  15,990   3.2  15,990 3.2 

Raducan Oleg  13,655   2.7  13,655 2.7 

Racoviţă Alexandru  12,312   2.5  12,312 2.5 

Golovcenco Serghei  11,915   2.4  11,915 2.4 

 276,103 55.7 276,097 55.7 
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18. Share capital (continued) 

 

Shareholders with the quote less than 1% 

Legal entities   39,226  7.9  36,181  7.3 

Individuals  49,551  9.9  52,604  10.5 

  88,777   17.8   88,785   17.8  

     

     

Treasury shares 2,314 0 2,313 0.4 

     

Total  496,779   100   496,779   100  

 

By the Decision of the Executive Committee no.278 of October 20, 2016, the National Bank of Moldova stated 

that the shareholders of BC "Moldindconbank" S.A. - SRL „Jet Business Limited” („ТОВ Джет Бiзнес 

Лiмiтед”),  SRL „Verloc Development INC.” („ТОВ Верлок Девелопмент IНК”), SRL„Fera 

Management”(„ТОВ Фера Менеджмент”), ÎM „Remington”SRL, ÎCS „Cassia Group”SRL, Mazina Liudmyla, 

Chernyakov Volodymyr, Podvishevskyi Vitalii, Ciuico Igor, Platon Veaceslav, Platon Nicolae, Uzun Maria, 

Kontievski Iuri, Murashkin Artur, Tkachenko Serghey, Velicikina Tatiana, Raducan Oleg, Racoviţă Alexandru, 

Golovcenco Serghei  act in concert with respect to BC "Moldindconbank" SA, have acquired and hold a 

substantial share (63.89%) in the bank's share capital without having the prior written permission of the National 

Bank of Moldova in accordance with the requirements of Law on the Financial Institutions, being applied the 

provisions of the art. 15 paragraph 2. 

As result, starting with 20.10.2016 the exercise of certain rights of these shareholders, including the right to vote, 

was suspended. 

19. Reserves 

 2017 2016 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 

   

Reserve fund  51,089  51,089 

General Reserves for banking risks  371,026  244,207 

   

  422,115  295,296 

Reserve fund represents a profit allocation with the aim to cover the losses other than the losses from loans and 

related interest income or the income from investing activity. 

General reserves for banking risks include amounts resulting from differences between assets impairment under 

IFRS and calculated but not provided for under prudential (NBM) norms.  

These reserves may not be distributed to shareholders except for undistributed profits which may be used to pay 

dividends for ordinary and preferential shares and excluding the reserve fund which may be distributed if the 

undistributed profit of the Bank is not sufficient to cover the dividends required for preferential shares. 
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20. Capital management 

The Bank's objectives in terms of capital management are to protect its continuity in order to insure dividends 

payment to shareholders as well as benefits to other equity holders. Also, in this context, the Bank aims to 

maintain its capital structure at an optimal level, which will result in a reduction in the cost of capital. In order to 

maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Bank may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, repay 

the share capital, issue new shares or sell assets in order to reduce the size of the debt. Changes in the Bank's 

objectives or policies, as well as in all previous year's processes, have not been made. 

The management uses regulatory capital norms to monitor the capital base. The allocation of capital between 

specific operations and activities is largely driven by the optimization of the return on capital allocated. The 

amount of capital allocated to each operation or activity is mainly based on capital requirements but, in some 

cases, regulatory requirements do not fully reflect the variable degree of risk associated with various activities. 

In such cases, capital requirements may be adjusted to reflect different risk profiles, provided that the overall 

level of capital to support a particular operation or activity does not fall below the minimum required for 

regulatory purposes. The process of allocating capital to specific operations and activities is carried out 

independently of those responsible for operations by the Risk Management Department and the Credit Analysis 

and Monitoring Department and is under the control of the Bank's Assets and Liabilities Management 

Committee (ALCO). 

Although maximization of the return on risk-weighted capital is the basic principle used in determining how 

capital is allocated within the Bank to particular operations or activities, it is not the sole basis used for decision 

making. Keep in mind also, and synergies with other operations and activities, the availability of management 

and other resources, and compliance by those with long-term strategic objectives of the Bank. MICB policies on 

capital management and allocation are reviewed regularly by the Board of Directors. 

The NBM requires each bank or banking group to hold the minimum level of the regulatory capital of MDL’000 

200,000 (31 December 2017: MDL’000 200,000) and maintain a ratio of total regulatory capital to the risk- 

weighted asset at minimum of 16% (31 December 2016: 16%). 

During 2017 and 2016, the Bank had complied fully with all its externally imposed minimal capital 

requirements: 

 2017 2016 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 

   

Weighted average assets and contingent commitments in 

accordance with NBM regulations 6,089,605 7,062,536 

Total regulatory capital in accordance with NBM regulations 1,685,571 1,638,220 

Risk weighted capital adequacy in accordance with NBM 

regulations, % 27,7 23,2 
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20. Capital Management (continued) 

The table below presents the computation of capital adequacy starting from IFRS figures, in accordance with the 

guidelines for capital adequacy computation: 

 Nominal amount Rate Risk weighted amount 

 2017 2016  2017 2016 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 % MDL’000 MDL’000 

      

Balance sheet assets (net of 

reserves)      

      

Cash on hand  1,249,155   939,317  0%  -   -  

Balances with National Bank in 

national currency  2,649,677   2,263,099  0%  -   -  

Balances with National Bank 

denominated in FCY  584,689   577,272  20%  116,938   115,454  

Current accounts and deposits with 

banks  1,354,945   569,897  20%  270,989   113,979  

Financial investments HTM  3,154,357   2,282,343  0%   

Financial investments AFS  4,191   3,824  100%  4,191   3,824  

Loans and financial leasing, net 

(deposits)  35,841  98,339 0%   

Loans and financial leasing, net 

(excluding mortgage and deposits) 4,782,248  3,348,483  100%  4,782,248   3,348,483  

Loans and financial leasing, net 

(mortgage) 548,455  447,239  50%  274,227  223,620 

Loans and finance lease receivables, 

net (excluding mortgage above) -  2,991,797  75%  2,243,848 

 

Fixed assets, net  217,660   241,191  100%  217,.660   241,191  

      

 

Intangible assets, net  44,976   47,205  100% 44,976   47,205  

 

Other assets  224,323   233,679  100% 224,323 233,679 

Assets taken into possession / 

ownership  302,580  325,846 100% 302,580 325,846 

Total balance sheet items  15,153,097  14,369,531  6,238,132 6,897,129 

 

Off-balance sheet items  
     

Guarantees issued  277,351   372,305  100% 277,351  372,305  

Letters of credit  -     999  100% -  999  

Committed indrawn loans  611,813   807,775  50% 305,907 403,888 

      

Total off-balance sheet position 889,164 1,181,079  583,258  777,192  

      

 

 
16,042,261 15,550,610  6,821,390 7,674,321 
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20. Capital Management (continued) 

 

2017 2016 

 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 

Tier I capital   

Share capital, nominal  494,466  494,466 

Share premium  5  5 

Statutory reserves  422,115  295,296 

Retained earnings  1,184,501  1,139,861 

Less intangible assets  (44,976) (47,205) 

Total tier I capital 2,056,111 1,882,423 

   

Tier II capital   

Revaluation reserve 1,028 458 

   

Total capital 

2,057,139  1,882,881 

 

   

Tier I ratio 30,14% 24,53% 

Tier I and II ratio 30,16% 24,53% 

 

 

21. Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following balances with less 

than 90 days maturity: 

 Notes As at 31 December Change 

  2017 2016 2017 2016 

  MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 

      

Cash on hand 4  1,249,155  939,317  309,838  303,330 

Balances with 

National Bank 

4 

 2,649,677  2,263,099  386,578  93,481 

Current accounts 

and deposits with 

banks 

34.6 

1,354,945    556,382 798,563 (649,423) 

Securities up to 90 

days 

34.6 

2,299,389    1,593,440  705,949 1,133,908 

Other assets                                          12  55,655  46,899  8,756  29,371 

      

    7,608,821  5,399,137    2,209,684  910,667  

 

Additionally to the cash balance was included the value of the recognized impairment of Loro accounts in the 

amount of MDL 000 64,548 (2016: MDL 000 68,762).
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22. Interest and similar income and expense 

 2017 2016 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 

   

Interest and similar income   

Loans and advances to banks  116,542  201,373 

Loans and advances to customers  687,336  1,029,370 

Overnights  2,020  3,239 

Investments held-to-maturity  204,729  318,688 

Other assets  307  (19) 

 

 

 1,010,934  1,552,651 

Interest and similar expense   

Deposits from individuals  (360,887) (650,073) 

Deposits from corporate clients  (40,184) (60,986) 

Deposits and loans from banks  (26) (13,192) 

Other loans  (28,961) (66,360) 

Other assets  (3,969) (703) 

   

  (434,027) (791,314) 

   

Net interest income 576,907 761,337 

 

23. Impairment losses 

 Notes 2017 2016 

  MDL’000 MDL’000 

    

Loans and advances to customers:    

Corporate clients  (60,161) 360,417 

Small and medium business  150,970 86,572 

Consumer loans  25,889 16,038 

Mortgage loans  7,090 6,580 

  123,788 469,607 

    

Tangible assets 9  12,449   - 

Other assets 12  31,893  132,243 

   168,130  601,850 
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23.a Discounts for losses from the Bank's assets impairment 

 

 

2017 

MDL’000  

2016 

MDL’000 

Net Expenses / (recoveries) related to impairment:    

Current accounts and deposits at banks (Note 5)  64,548   68,763 

Loans and advances to customers (Note 7) 

 

1,075,740   984,257 

Tangible assets  (Note 9) 12,449   

Intangible assets (Note 10)   8,000   8,000 

Assets taken over in possession / ownership (Note 12)  123,762    34,899  

Other assets (Note 11)  58,164    114,362  

Total  

 

1,342,663   1,210,281 

    

 

.  

  

24. Net commission income 

 2017 2016 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 

Commission income   

Transactions with debit cards  116,872   85,533  

Commission on guarantees and letters of credit  6,972   9,006  

Clients account servicing  72,644   75,640  

Commissions on cash operations  85,745   74,703  

Other  77,517   72,194  

   

  359,750  317,076 

Commission expenses   

Commission on debit card services  (48,194)  (32,170) 

Payment transactions with correspondent banks  (39,124)  (29,789) 

Other   (4,680)  (4,000) 

   

  (91,998)  (65.959) 

   

Net commission income 267,752 251,117 

 

25. Financial income, net 

 2017 2016 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 

Gains on trading of foreign currency, net 

 

 174,595  112,832 

Exchange gains  (19,060) 39,173 

  155,535  152,005 

 

 

 

 

 

 



BC „Moldindconbank” S.A.  

EXPLANATORY NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 31 December 2017 

 

Informaţie Publică – Document creat în cadrul MICB 

25a. Revenues from the sale of available-for-sale investments and dividend income  

    
 

 
2017 2016 

 
 

MDL’000 MDL’000 

Revenue from dividends on shares available for sale 43 25 

 

Income / losses from the sale of state securities  
- - 

 

Income / losses from transactions with shares 
- - 

 
 

43 25 

  

                                 -                                   -    

26. Other operating income 

 2017 2016 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 

Income from collection services  13,753   13,230  

Income from disposal of investments  -     13,116  

Income from disposal of other values  109   3,921  

Revenues from disposal of long term tangibles  217   62  

Other income  6,767   7,657  

Fees, penalties and other received sanctions  16,863   39,546  

   

  37,709   77,532  
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27. Personnel expenses 

 2017 2016 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 

   

Salaries and bonuses 177,098 155,819 

Social insurance and contributions 41,560 36,518 

Medical insurance 8,117 7,133 

Other personnel expenses 23,813 24,566 

   250,588  224,036  

The Bank makes contributions to the State pension system of the Republic of Moldova calculated as a 

percentage of gross salary. These contributions are charged to the income statement in the period in which the 

related salary is earned by the employee. 

During 2017, staff number decreased with 20 employees. The "Other Benefits" section includes expenses related 

to other payments (material aid, individual work contracts - one job, employer indemnities paid by the employer, 

etc.). The increase comparing to 2016 is represented by the payment of material aid and wage increases.  

28. General and administrative expenses 

 2017 2016 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 

Depreciation of low value and short life items 3,203 5,351 

Repair and maintenance 16,660 16,437 

Utilities and rent 68,829 69,739 

Contributions to Deposit Guarantee Fund 8,228 7,439 

Taxes and penalties 1,311 715 

Professional services 12,920 14,075 

Staff expenses 395 491 

Travel 1,177 1,294 

Protocol expenses 1,185 1,682 

Postage and telecommunication expenses 9,388 8,146 

Expenses with office supplies 3,404 4,075 

Advertising and charity 6,286 11,880 

Other operating expenses 8,795 7,899 

Disposal of property and equipment and other assets 13,154 27,050 

Maintenance of intangible assets 8,658 6,503 

Fees and taxes - 2 

Other expenses 1,798 1,217 

Expenses related to Trade Union 3,478 22,438 

Provisions for possible losses 13,173 3,296 

  182,042  209,729 

During 2017, besides the audit expenses, the Bank has incurred expenses related to diagnostic services of Bank's 

assets and liabilities, valuation of the Bank's assets, debts and equity, identification of transactions with affiliated 

persons which have led to an increase of expenses. 
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29. Guarantees and other financial commitments   

In order to satisfy its customers’ financial necessities, the Bank undertakes different commitments and 

contingent liabilities. Although these commitments are not recorded in the balance sheet, these instruments 

present a degree of credit risk and are part of the Bank’s overall risk 

The aggregate amounts of outstanding guarantees, commitments and other off-balance sheet items as of 31 

December 2017 and 2016 are: 

 2017 2016 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 

Contingent liabilities   

Guarantees  277,351  372,305 

Letters of credit  -    999 

   

Commitments   

Financing commitments and other 611,813 807,775 

   

 889,164 1,181,079 

The following table summarizes the contingent liabilities and commitments accordingly to their maturity 

31 December 

2017 

Up to 1 

month 

From 1 to 

3 months 

From 3 to 

12 months 

From 1 

year to 5 

years 

Over 5 

years Total 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 

       

       

Guarantees  38,065   30,345   105,163   97,234   6,544   277,351  

Documentary 

credit 
- - - - - - 

Financing 

commitments and 

other 

 60,946   32,321   147,135  320,451 50,960 611,813  

       

Total  99,011   62,666   252,298  417,685   57,504   889,164  

31 December 

2016 

Up to 1 

month 

From 1 to 

3 months 

From 3 

months to 

12 months 

From 1 

year to 5 

years 

Over 5 

years Total 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 

Guarantees 
 

 60,766  

 

 34,693  

 

 116,949  

 

 141,653  

 

 18,244  

 

 372,305  

Documentary 

credit 

- -  999  - -  999  

Financing 

commitments and 

other 

 61,481   50,127   252,500   443,667    807,775  

Total  122,247   84,820   370,448   585,320   18,244   1,181,079  
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29. Guarantees and other financial commitments (continued) 

Contingent liabilities 

Letters of credit and guarantees issued by the Bank to its customers engage the Bank to make payments on 

behalf of its customers in case of a specific event or act, generally related to the transactions of import or export 

of goods. The credit risk on guarantees is similar to that arising from granting of loans. In the event of a claim on 

the Bank as a result of a customer's default on a guarantee these instruments also present a degree of liquidity 

risk to the Bank. 

Financing commitments 

Financing commitments represent the Bank’s commitments to grant loans and credit lines. Generally, the 

commitments have fixed maturities, or other termination clauses. Financing commitments do not necessarily 

represent future cash requirements, since many of these commitments will expire or terminate without being 

funded. 

Operating lease commitments 

Where the Bank is lessee, the future minimum lease payments under building and vehicles operating leases are 

as follows: 

 2017 2016 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 

Up to 1 year  2,371 6,083 

Up to 1 year and no more than 5 years 42,450 46,588 

More than 5 years 167,174 156,286 

 211,995 208,957 

Capital commitments 

 The Bank did not have any capital commitments as at 31 December 2017 and 2016. 

Legal complaints 

As at 31 December 2017, the Bank is a defendant in a number of lawsuits arising out of normal corporate 

activities. In the opinion of Management and the Bank’s legal department, the probability of loss is small. 

Curently, in the Russian (arbitration) courts, is examined the dispute is filed against BC "Moldindconbank" SA, 

regarding the declaration of nullity of bank guarantees and, as a result of the nullity invoked, the restitution of 

the parties in the initial position and the receipts from BC " Moldindconbank "SA of a cash amount. Pursuant to 

the Decision of the Executive Committee of the National Bank of Moldova, adopted following the thematic 

control, BC "Moldindconbank" S.A. has formed the provision for the respective litigation, in the amount of 

100% of the value of the share. 

30. Earnings per share 

Earnings per share computation are based on the following information: 

 2017 2016 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 

Net profit for the year 363,766 161,498 

Net profit for the year after dividends for ordinary shares 363,766 161,498 

Average number of ordinary I class shares 4,967,794 4,967,794 

Result per basic share - MDL 73 33 

In order to calculate earnings per share for 2017 and 2016, number of shares includes weighted average number 

of shares that are in circulation among the year.  
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31. Proposes and distributed dividends 

In 2017 and 2016, were not submitted dividends for ordinary shares to be paid.                                                                 

32. Fair value of financial instruments 

The fair value of financial instruments is the price that will be received from the sale of the asset or paid for the 

debt transfer within a regulated transaction between the market participants on the valuation date. The fair value 

of the companies’ shares traded on active markets is based on quoted market prices or prices quoted by 

intermediaries to which the Bank has the access (ex. the Moldovan Stock Exchange, etc.). 

 For financial instruments unlisted on active markets, the fair value is estimated using  models of cash flow 

updating or other pricing techniques, as appropriate. Modifications in the assumptions used, including discount 

rates and estimated future cash flows, significantly affect estimates. Thus, estimates of fair market value can not 

be achieved in a current sale of a financial instrument. 

The Bank uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by 

valuation technique: 

Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;  

Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are 

observable, either directly or indirectly;  

Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based 

on observable market data. 

The financial instruments valued at the fair value are presented in the balance sheet in notes 8 and 12. 
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32. Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 

The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments recorded at fair value by level of the fair value hierarchy: 

           

                                                                                                                 2017 

                                                                                                                 

2016                  

 Carrying value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value 

Carrying 

value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 

Financial assets           

Cash and balances at NBM 4,483,521  4,483,521  4,483,521 3,779,688 - 3,779,688 - 3,779,688 

Loans and advances to banks 1,354,945  1,354,945  1,354,945 569,897 - 569,897 - 569,897 

Investments held-to- maturity 3,154,357 3,151,125   3,151,125 2,282,343 2,279,980 - - 2,279,980 

Loans, net 5,366,544   5,088,406 5,088,406 6,885,858 - - 6,686,132 6,686,132 

           

Financial liabilities           

Due to banks 13,056  13,056  13,056 40,563 - 40,563 - 40,563 

Other borrowings 629,383  613,879  613,879 865,254 - 842,860 - 842,860 

Due to customers 12,004,668  11,843,877  11,843,877 11,386,548 - 11,335,373 - 11,335,373 
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32. Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 

Financial instruments registered at fair value 

A description of the way to determine the fair value by using valuation techniques for the financial instruments, 

which are recorded at their fair value, can be found below. These include Bank estimate on the assumptions that 

a market participant uses when assessing these instruments. 

(i) Loans and advances to banks 

Loans and advances to banks include inter-bank placements and loans. The fair value of floating rate placements 

and overnight deposits approximates their carrying amount. The estimated fair value of fixed interest bearing 

placements is based on discounted cash flows using prevailing money-market interest rates for debts with similar 

credit risk and remaining maturity. 

(ii) Investments held-to-maturity 

Investment securities include only interest-bearing assets held to maturity, as assets available-for-sale are 

measured at fair value. Fair value for held-to-maturity assets is based on market prices or broker/dealer price 

quotations. Where this information is not available, fair value has been estimated using quoted market prices for 

securities with similar credit, maturity and yield characteristics.  

(iii) Loans and advances to customers 

Loans and advances are net of provisions for impairment. The estimated fair value of loans and advances 

represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be received. Expected cash flows 

are discounted at current market rates to determine fair value. Interest rates prevailing in the similar products 

market varies as follows: for loans up to 1 year, 7.13%, for loans with a maturity of 1-5 years,  7.82%, for loans 

with a maturity of 5 years, 6.83%. 

 (iv) Borrowings, including due to other banks and due to customers 

The fair value of floating rate borrowings approximates their carrying amount. The estimated fair value of fixed 

interest-bearing deposits and other borrowings without quoted market price is based on discounted cash flows 

using interest rates for new debts with similar remaining maturity. 
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33. Related parties 

The main shareholders of the Bank, each holding more than 1% of the share capital, are presented in Note 18. 

In curse of the ordinary activity, during the year, the Bank conducted a series of banking and non-banking transactions with affiliated parties in accordance with the provisions of 

the legislation in force. 

Below we present the balances and transactions with related parties as of 31.12.2016 and 31.12.2017: 

Related parties  

Loans 

outstanding 

as at the 

year end, 

net 

Off-balance 

sheet 

financing 

commitments 

Deposits at 

the year end 

Interest and 

commission 

expenses 

Interest and 

commission 

expenses 

Non-interest 

income 

Non-interest 

expenses 

/costs 

Dividends 

received 

  MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 

          

Shareholders > 1 % and their 

related parties 2017  104,792   16,761   33,066   5,298   962   97   4,142   

 

Shareholders > 1 % and their 

related parties 2016  98,978   5,285   18,745   3,443   910   32   3,922   -    

 

Bank's administrators and 

persons related to them 2017  6,121   609   11,083   992   182   120   45,763   -    

 

Bank's administrators and 

persons related to them 2016  10,057   497   8,806   13,802   1,263   121   47,942   -    

 

          

Total 2017  110,913  17,370   44,149   6,290   1,144   217  49,905   -    

 

Total 2016  109,035   5,782   27,551   17,245   2,173   153   51,864   -    
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33. Related parties (continued) 

The table below summarizes the remuneration and social contributions related to the executive Management, Bank 

Council and Auditing Committee for 2017 and 2016 who are considered to comprise the Bank’s key management 

personnel: 

 2017 2016 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 

Executive Management   

Remuneration 31,036   34,242  

Obligatory state social contributions  7,138   7,876  

Obligatory medical contributions  1,397   1,541  

   

  39,571   43,659  

   

Bank Council and Censor Commission   

Remuneration 2,495 2,008 

Obligatory state social contributions 574 462 

Obligatory medical contributions 112 90 

   

 3,181 2,560 

34. Risk Management 

The Bank’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the analysis, evaluation, 

acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks. The Bank’s aim is achieving an 

appropriate balance between risk and return and minimize potential adverse effects on the Bank’s financial 

performance. 

The Bank’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set appropriate risk limits 

and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable and up-to-date information 

systems. The Bank regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect changes in markets, 

products and emerging best practice. 

34.1 Credit risk 

Within its usual activity, the Bank ensures its credit risks towards the loans and prepayments granted for clients, 

towards its placements for other financial borrowings and other extra-balance elements. The Bank can also be 

affected by losses due to credit risk concentration in a certain economic group within the context economic changes 

in Moldova. Credit risk administration is regularly monitored by observing the credit limits, evaluation of debtors’ 

quality and some conservatory policies towards the constitution of provisions. 

The Bank structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation 

to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and industry segments. Such risks are monitored on a revolving basis and 

subject to an annual or more frequent review. Limits on the level of credit risk by product and industry sector are 

approved quarterly by the Board of Directors. 
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34. Risk management (continued) 

34.1 Credit risk (continued) 

The primary purpose of this instrument is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as required. Guarantees 

and letters of credit - which represent irrevocable assurances that the Bank will make payments in the event that a 

customer cannot meet its obligations to third parties - carry the same credit risk as loans. Documentary and 

commercial letters of credit - which are written undertakings by the Bank on behalf of a customer authorizing a third 

party to draw drafts on the Bank up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions - are collateralized by 

the underlying shipments of goods to which they relate and therefore carry less risk than a direct borrowing. 

Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorizations to extend credit in the form of loans, 

guarantees or letters of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the Bank is potentially 

exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments. 

However, the likely amount of loss is less than the total unused commitments, as most commitments to extend credit 

are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit standards. The Bank monitors the term to maturity of 

credit commitments because longer-term commitments generally have a greater degree of credit risk than shorter-

term commitments. 

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or  other credit enhancements: 

 Notes 2017 2016 

  MDL’000 MDL’000 

    

Balances at National Bank 4 3,891,054 3,201,914 

Current accounts and deposits at banks 5 1,354,945 569,897 

Financial investments - held to maturity 6 3,154,357 2,282,343 

Loans and advances to customers 7 5,366,544 6,885,858 

Other financial assets 12 334,351 326,681 

    

  14,101,251 13,266,693 

    

Documentary credit 29 0 999 

Guarantees 29 277,351 372,305 

Financing commitments 29 611,813 807,775 

   889,164   1,181,079  

    

Total credit risk exposure  14,990,415 14,447,772 

The above tables outline the credit risk exposures of the Bank as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, without 

considering any collateral held or other additional guarantees attached. For balance sheet assets, the exposures set 

out above are based on net amounts as reported in the statement of financial position. 

As outlined above, 35.8% of the total exposure is derived from loans and advances to customers (2016: 47.7%); 

26.0% represent bank balances at the National Bank (2016: 22.2%), 21.0% are debt securities held to maturity 

(2016: 15.8%) and 9.0% current accounts and deposits at banks (2016: 3.9%). 

All debt securities with balance at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 were issued either by the Ministry of 

Finance of the Republic of Moldova or by the National Bank of Moldova. 
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34. Risk management (continued) 

34.1 Credit risk (continued) 

Risk concentrations of the maximum exposure to credit risk 

The Bank’s concentrations of risk are managed by client/counterparty and by industry sector. The maximum 

credit exposure to any client or counterparty as at 31 December 2017 was MDL’000 220,388 (loan) (as at 31 

December 2016: MDL’000 253,644 (loan)) before taking account of collateral or other credit enhancements. 

 

As at 31 December 2017, the ten major net exposures have a total outstanding balance of MDL'000 1,758,075 

(31 December 2016: MDL'000 2,029,665). 

Credit quality by class of financial assets 

Overdue loans - are loans with expired payment or interest calculated over a day; 

The Credit risk by financial assets class is managed by the Bank using credit ratings. The table below shows the 

credit quality by class of asset for all financial assets exposed to credit risk, based on the Bank’s internal credit 

rating system. 

  Neither past due, nor impaired    

 

Note

s 

High 

grade 

Standard 

grade 

Sub-

standard 

grade 

Past due 

but not 

impaired 

Individually 

impaired Total 

31 December 

2017  MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 

        

Balances at 

National Bank 4  4,483,521  - - - - 

  

4,483,521  

Current accounts 

and deposits at 

banks 5  1,354,945  - - - - 

 

 1,354,945  

Financial 

investments - held 

to maturity 6 3,154,357  - - - - 

 

3,154,357  

        

Loans        

Corporate 7 37,546   357,158  26,736   59,183  173,097   653,720  

Small and 

medium business 7  999,669   1,215,366   398,466  490,043   1,102,655   4,206,199  

Consumer loans 7  870,316  29,890   7,568   165,653   3,621   1,077,048  

Mortgage loans 7  385,495 16,437  7,875  95,510    505,317  

   2,293,026  1,618,851   440,645  810,389   1,279,373   6,442,284  

        

Financial 

investments 

available for sale 8 4,191 - - - - 4,191 

        

   11,290,040   1,618,851   440,645   810,389   1,279,373  15,439,298  



BC „Moldindconbank” S.A.  

EXPLANATORY NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 31 December 2017 

 

Informaţie Publică – Document creat în cadrul MICB 

34. Risk management (continued) 

34.1  Credit risk (continued) 

  Neither past due, nor impaired    

 

Note

s 

High 

grade 

Standard 

grade 

Sub-

standard 

grade 

Past due 

but not 

impaired 

Individually 

impaired Total 

31 December 

2016  MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 

        

Balances at 

National Bank 4  3,779,688  - - - -  3,779,688  

Current accounts 

and deposits at 

banks 5  569,897  - - - -  569,897  

Financial 

investments - held 

to maturity 6  2,282,343  - - - -  2,282,343  

        

Loans        

Corporate 7  1,109,220   1,255,370  81,417   336,730   717,978   3,500,715  

Small and 

medium business 7  580,748   943,983   124,112   440,722   919,365   3,008,930  

Consumer loans 7  749,430   36,100   12,204   161,558   3,374   962,666  

Mortgage loans 7  264,753  29,904   8,383   94,764    397,804  

   2,704,151  2,265,357   226,116   1,033,774   1,640,717   7,870,115  

        

Financial 

investments 

available for sale 8 3,824 - - - - 3,824 

        

   9,339,903   2,265,357   226,116   1,033,774   1,640,717  14,505,867  

Credit obligations 

The main purpose of these instruments is to ensure that the funds are available for the client upon request. Stand-by 

guarantees and stand-by letters of credit that represent irrevocable assurances that the Bank will perform payments if 

the client fails to meet its obligations to the third party, presenting the same credit risk as the credits granted. 

Documentary and commercial letters of credit, which are obligations written by the Bank on behalf of the client, 

authorizing a third party to withdraw certain amounts up to a limit set according to specific terms and conditions that 

are collateralized by the transport of goods to which they relate and thus having a lower risk than a direct loan. 

Credit extension obligations are unused portions of credit extension authorizations in the form of loans, guarantees 

or letters of credit. With regards to credit risk on credit extension obligations, the Bank is potentially exposed to loss 

in the amount equal to unused total liabilities. 

However, the amount of the loss is potentially lower than the total of unused liabilities, because most of the credit 

extension obligations are conditioned by customer maintaining of specific credit standards. 

The Bank monitors the maturity of credit obligations, as long-term liabilities generally have a higher credit risk than 

short-term liabilities. 

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or additional guarantees: 
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34. Risk management (continued) 

34.1 Credit risk (continued) 

 Note 31 December 2017  31 December 2016 

  MDL’000  MDL’000 

     

Bank balances with the National Bank  3,891,054  3,201,914 

Current accounts and deposits with banks  1,354,945  569,897 

Debt securities held to maturity  3,154,357  2,282,343 

Net Loans  5,366,544  6,885,858 

Other financial assets  334,351  326,681 

  14,101,251  13,266,693 

     

Extra-balancing items  889,164  1,181,079 

     

Total exposure to credit risk  14,990,415  14,447,772 

The above tables outline the credit risk exposures of the Bank as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, without 

considering any collateral held or other additional guarantees attached. For balance sheet assets, the exposures set 

out above are based on net amounts as reported in the statement of financial position. 

As outlined above, 35.8% of the total exposure is derived from loans and advances to customers (2016: 47.7%); 

26.0% represent bank balances at the National Bank (2016: 22.2%), 21.0% are debt securities held to maturity 

(2016: 15.8%) and 9.0% current accounts and deposits at banks (2016: 3.9%). 

All debt securities with balance at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 were issued either by the Ministry of 

Finance of the Republic of Moldova or by the National Bank of Moldova. 
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34. 34. Risk management (continued) 

34.1 Credit risk (continued) 

 (i) Loans and advances 

The credit quality of customer loans, current accounts and bank deposits is managed by the Bank using the Internal 

Credit Quality Assessment System using also the rating of at least one of Moody's, Standard & Poor's and Fitch-

IBCA agencies. The description of the internal rating grid is as follows: 

Standard - the asset will be considered standard, if it is on time, all the terms of the contract are met and there is no 

reason to believe that the Bank will be subject to a present or future loss risk. 

In observation - there are potential uncertainties regarding the counterparty's financial position but also regarding the 

guarantee, the payments are delayed between 31 and 90 days, the cash flows are irregular and difficult to control, 

although their creditworthiness is not impaired.  

Substandard - there is a higher risk of loss than the normal due to one of the following factors: 

a) the counterparty's financial position is unfavorable or is deteriorating; 

b) the warranty (if any) is not sufficient or is deteriorating; 

c) other adverse factors that occur at the counterparty's ability to settle the Bank's receivables under existing 

terms; 

d) payments are delayed between 91 and 180 days; 

e) the bank did not receive sufficient updated information on the financial situation of the counterparty (at least 

quarterly), of the person providing a personal guarantee (fiduciary), the sources of debt reimbursement, the 

justification of credit use according to the purpose stipulated in the credit agreement, as well as other 

documents related to counterparty activity; 

f) the asset is used for purposes other than those stipulated in the contract; 

g) the counterparty cash flows are estimated to be insufficient to cover its liabilities. 

Uncertain - there are elements that make uncertain and unlikely the full payments of the current / future receivables 

of the Bank, based on the existing circumstances and conditions, as well as the market value of the guarantee, if any. 

The possibility of loss is extremely high, but there are certain important, concrete and well-founded factors that will 

be realized soon and could contribute to the partial or full payment of the current / future receivables of the Bank. 

The classification of this asset as loss will be postponed until the asset's status is determined more accurately. The 

payments are delayed between 181 and 360 days. 

Loss - at the time of asset classification, the current / future claims of the Bank on that asset may not be respected. 

Payments are delayed for more than 360 days. 

As of 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the credit quality of current accounts and deposits at banks can be 

assessed by reference to the internal credit risk assessment system adopted by the Bank as follows: 

Loans and advances that exceeded the maturity of less than 90 days are not considered to be impaired in the absence 

of information that would indicate otherwise. The gross amount of loans and advances distributed by class of 

customers that exceeded the maturity, but are not impaired are as follows: 
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34. Risk management (continued) 

34.1 Credit risk (continued) 

 Less than 30 

days 

From 31 to 

60 days 

From 61 to 

90 days 

Over 91 days Total 

31 December 2017 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 

      

Loans      

Corporate clients 59,183   -  -   59,183  

Small and medium clients  317,864   19,845   12,406   139,928   490,043  

Current consumption  96,949   32,694  12,156  23,854   165,653  

Mortgage 53,711  18,996  7,390  15,413   95,510  

        

 527,707   71,535   31,952   179,195   810,389  

Of the total amount of the overdue financial assets, but non-impaired, the fair value of collateral held by the Bank as 

at December 31, 2017 was MDL'000 1,181,869 (2016: MDL'000 1,363,692). The bank holds pledges in the form of 

goods, stocks of materials and equipment, as well as corporate guarantees and cash deposits. Prior to granting loans 

and advances, the fair value of the pledge is determined using the valuation techniques used for the corresponding 

assets. In subsequent periods, the fair value is adjusted to market value or compared to similar assets. 

 

 

Less than 30 

days 

From 31 to 

60 days 

From 61 to 

90 days 

Over 91 

days 

Total 

31 December 2016 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 

      

Loans      

Corporate clients  243,612   84,768   8,350    336,730  

Small and medium clients  309,920   47,350   13,678   69,774   440,722  

Current consumption  112,131   26,982   8,067   14,378   161,558  

Mortgage  54,596   27,609   6,271   6,288   94,764  

        

  720,259   186,709   36,366   90,440   1,033,774  
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34. Risk management (continued) 

34.1 Credit risk (continued) 

Risk concentrations of maximum exposure to credit risk 

The bank's risk concentrations are managed by client / counterparty and by branch.  

As at 31 December 2017, the highest concentration in a branch was in the trading sector (30.96%), followed by 

loans to individuals (24.56%) and services (10.10 %). 

The maximum exposure was in the agriculture sector and the trading sector, before considering the collateral or 

other additional guarantees. 

The "large" exposure is the net exposure to a group of persons acting in concert, representing 10% or more of the 

Bank's Total Regulatory Capital, calculated according to the prudential regulations of the National Bank of 

Moldova. 

As at 31 December 2017, the total amount of large exposures was MDL’000 1,280,520, or 20.08% of the Bank's 

gross loan portfolio (as at 31 December 2016 was null 1,913,804 (24.45%)). 

These are analyzed by branches as follows: 

 

31 December 

2017  

31 December 

2016 

 MDL’000  MDL’000 

    

Trade 1,994,589       2,730,023      

Food industry 323,759       375,024      

Services 650,578       820,984      

Agriculture 472,295       605,736      

Light industry 158,553       54,681      

Consumption 1,582,364       1,360,471      

Construction / Production of building materials 273,808       476,005      

Transportation 81,075       136,798      

Telecommunications   179,527        138,393      

Machinery and equipment industry 26,997       47,558      

Chemical industry 38,996       88,382      

Financial activities, insurance 280,911       385,108      

Energy industry 333,906       593,302      

Wood processing industry 7,022       13,407      

Other 37,907       44,243      

  6,442,284                7,870,115 
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34. Risk management (continued) 

34.1 Credit risk (continued) 

Loans to customers 

Loans to customers are summarized as follows: 

 

2017 

 MDL’000  

 2016 

 MDL’000 

 Legal entities  Individuals  Legal entities  Individuals 

        

Neither outstanding nor 

impaired  3,034,942        1,317,580        4,094,850        1,100,774      

Outstanding but not 

impaired  409,298        221,795        707,678        235,656      

Individually impaired  1,275,752        3,621        1,637,343        3,375      

Collectively impaired 139,928        39,368        69,774        20,666      

 

Gross  4,859,920        1,582,364        6,509,645        1,360,471      

Less: Provisions for 

impairment (1,005,851)  (69,889)  (949,401)  (34,856) 

 

Net 3,854,069  1,512,475  5,560,244  1,325,615 
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34. Risk management (continued) 

34.1 Credit risk (continued) 

The Bank holds collateral for loans to customers in the form of mortgage rights on property, stock of materials 

and equipment, as well as guarantees and cash deposits.  

Upon initial recognition of loans and advances granted, the fair value of the guarantee is based on the technical 

valuation normally used for the corresponding assets. During the subsequent periods, the fair value is updated by 

reference to market price or indexes of similar assets. 

The guarantees structure is similar for the entire loan portfolio. 

(i) Loans neither outstanding nor impaired 

Loans presented as "neither outstanding nor impaired" are those loans for which no objective evidence of 

depreciation has been identified by 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 respectively. 

 (ii) Outstanding but not impaired 

As at 31 December 2017, loans and advances to customers with arrears of less than 90 days are not considered 

impaired, unless there is other evidence of the contrary. 

The gross amount of loans and advances to customer classes that have passed the payment term but are not 

impaired were as follows: 

 

 31 December 2017  31 December 2016 

 Legal entities  Individuals  Legal entities  Individuals 

 MDL’000  MDL’000  MDL’000  MDL’000 

        

Less than 30 days  377,047        150,660        553,532        166,727      

Between 31 and 60 days  19,845        51,690        22,028        14,338      

More than 61 days  12,406        19,445        132,118        54,591      

 

 
 409,298      

 
 221,795     

 

 707,678      

 

 235,656     

(ii) Loans and advances individually impaired 

The amount of individually impaired loans and advances, without considering the cash flow from pledges held, 

is MDL’000 1,279,373 (2016: MDL’000 1,816,112). The fair value of the pledge for individually impaired loans 

held by the Bank as at 31 December 2017 is MDL’000  1,491,383 (2016: MDL’000  1,907,911). The pledge 

represents property and equipment titles. 

 (ii) Loans and advances Collectively impaired 

All individually significant loans that have not been specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any 

impairment that has occurred but has not yet been identified. In the assessment of collective depreciation, the 

Bank uses statistical models of historical trends of default probability, recovery planning and the amount of the 

loss, adjusted to management's decision that current economic and credit conditions are those for which actual 

loss may be greater, or less than that suggested by the historical model. 

(iii) Renegotiated loans and advances  

The restructuring activities include payment extension arrangements, accepted external management plans, 

changes and postponement of payments. According to the restructurings, the previous account with the 

customer's overdue term is reset to normal and managed in line with other similar accounts. Restructuring 

practices and policies are based on criteria or indicators, which, according to the logic of local management, 

often indicate the continuity of payments. These policies are constantly reviewed. 

Renegotiated loans without those ensured with cash deposits, that would exceed the maturity date are as follows: 

MDL’000 1,008,189 at December 31, 2017 (December 31, 2016: MDL’000 508,076). 

 



BC „Moldindconbank” S.A.  

EXPLANATORY NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 31 December 2017 

 

Informaţie Publică – Document creat în cadrul MICB 

 

34. Risk management (continued) 

 

34.1 Country risk and counterparty risk 

 

Country and transfer risk management is carried out by applying a mechanism for assessing and revising the risk 

category established for that country based on a set of bank exposure limiting factors to each country. The 

established limits are periodically reviewed and adjusted. Compliance with country limits is monitored daily, 

calculated on the basis of a rating. As a basis for its own assessment, the Bank uses the evaluations and ratings of 

Standard & Poor's, Moody's and Fitch. 

In terms of country and transfer risk, the Bank is pursuing a low risk profile. 

 

34.3 Operational risk 

The Bank aims to establish an operational risk management framework that covers operational risk appetite and 

tolerance by creating policies and processes for identifying, evaluating, monitoring, reporting, controlling and 

mitigating operational risk. 

 

Operational risk is identified and evaluated for each existing activity, product or service, as well as for new ones, 

at the level of each Bank unit. 

 

The operational risk management strategy sets out the general requirements for developing the Bank's internal 

policies and procedures in terms of addressing this risk, taking into account the risk profile and the acceptable 

profit / risk ratio under conditions of ensuring continuity of activity on a sound and cautious basis. 

 

The operational risk management strategy aims at reducing operational risk generating events resulting from 

internal processes, inappropriate or erroneous systems, including both internal and external frauds, as well as 

defective customer data processing, customer and counterparty treatment, or malfunctions of computer systems. 

The bank has an extensive and well-organized administrative team. This includes a clear organizational structure 

with well-defined responsibilities, efficient, transparent and consistent risk detection, management, monitoring 

and reporting of processes and the appropriate internal control mechanism, including appropriate management 

and accounting procedures. 

All the information regarding the operational risk management can be obtained from the regulations and other 

documents, as well as from the recommendations issued by the NBM. 

 

34. Risk management (continued) 

 

34.4 Currency risk 

 

Currency risk is the risk of loss resulting from changes in exchange rates. The Bank maintains a long 

equilibrated position between the assets and liabilities in currency in order to ensure against this risk. The Bank 

monitors and limits currency deposits for individuals. 

The foreign currency breakdown of the Bank’s assets and liabilities is presented below and the sensitivity 

analysis of Bank’s exposure to currency risk is presented below:  

 

Sensitivity analysis to currency risk 

The Bank performed a sensitivity analysis to currency risk at which it is reasonably exposed at December 31, 

2017, showing how income statement could have been affected as a result of possible changes in currency rates. 
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34. Risk management (continued) 

34.4 Currency risk 

The table below shows the currencies for which the Bank has significant exposure to currency risk as at 

December 31, 2017 and December 31 2016 for the balance sheet items that are sensitive to the currency rates’ 

modifications. The analysis demonstrates the effect of reasonably possible changes in currency rates, by taking 

into account the net currency positions for the respective currencies, the daily volatility of exchange rate of the 

currencies mentioned below (for one year), the coefficient of correlation between the respective exchange rates 

(for one year). The simulation is performed for a period of 10 days, necessary for the adjustment of currency 

position, recommended by the Committee of Bank Supervision from Basel. 

 2017 2016 

Per currency 

Effect 

Income/(loses) 

Effect 

Income/(loses) 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 

   

EUR (6,724) (11,735) 

USD (941) (99) 

RUB (26) (16) 
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34. Risk management (continued) 

34.4 Currency risk (continued) 

Balance sheet structure by currency 

                                                31 December 2017 

 

 

 Total MDL USD EUR Other 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 

ASSETS      

      

Cash on hand and balances at the 

National Bank 

4,483,521 3,109,348 364,599 966,730 42,844 

Current accounts and deposits at 

banks 

1,354,945 - 16,184 1,329,468 9,293 

Financial investments - HTM 3,154,357 3,154,357 - 0 - 

Loans, net 5,366,544 3,395,266 958,768 1,012,510 - 

Financial investments - AFS 4,191 1,599 1,544 1,048 - 

Tangible assets, net 217,660 217,660 - - - 

Intangible assets, net 44,976 44,976 - - - 

Other assets 224,323 111,596 69,449 37,785 5,493 

Assets taken in possession / 

ownership 

302,580 302,580    - 

Total assets 15,153,097 10,337,382 1,410,544 3,347,541 57,630 

      

LIABILITIES      

Due to banks 13,056 8,947 0 3,855 254 

Other borrowings 629,383 313,758 64,400 251,225 0 

Due to customers 12,004,668 7,559,393 1,597,016 2,828,197 20,062 

Income tax  26,635 26,635    

Other liabilities 377,240 358,881 3,521 14,279 559 

      

Total liabilities  13,050,982       8,267,614 1,664,937 3,097,556 20,875 

      

GAP  2,102,115   2,069,768   (254,393)  249,985   36,756  
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34. Risk management (continued) 

34.4 Currency risk (continued) 

Balance sheet structure by currency (continued) 

 

 31 December 2016 

 Total MDL USD EUR Others 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 

ACTIVE      

      

Cash on hand and balances at 

the National Bank 

 3,779,688   2,602,511   429,707   696,975   50,495  

Current accounts and deposits 

at banks 

 569,897   -     369,335   183,168   17,394  

Financial investments - HTM  2,282,343   2,282,343   -     -     -    

Loans, net  6,885,858   3,902,001   1,623,489   1,360,368   -    

Financial investments - AFS  3,824   1,600  1,236   988   -    

Tangible assets, net  241,191   241,191   -     -     -    

Intangible assets, net  47,205   47,205   -     -     -    

Other assets 233,679  109,575   62,447   54,564   7,093  

 325,846 325,846    

Total assets  14,369,531   9,512,272  2,486,214  2,296,063   74,982  

      

LIABILITIES      

Due to banks  40,563   24,143   14,083   1,341   996  

Other borrowings  865,254   455,686   111,279   298,289   -    

Due to customers  11,386,548   6,885,723  1,741,477   2,744,275   15,073  

Income tax   9,985   9,985    

Other liabilities  137,095   116,120   3,338   17,217   420  

      

Total liabilities  12,439,445   7,491,657  1,870,177   3,061,122   16,489  

      

GAP  1,930,086   2,020,615  616,037   (765,059)  58,493  
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34. Risk management (continued) 

34.5 Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk of loss resulting from changes in interest rates. Interest rate risk consists of the 

fluctuation risk in the value of financial instrument as a result of variation in interest rates on the inter-bank 

market and the GAP risk between maturities for interest bearing assets and liabilities. 

Interest rate fluctuations can affect the Bank’s profile, assets economic value, liabilities and off-balance sheet 

items. Thus, the effective period of interest rate established for a financial instrument indicates the extent of the 

Bank’s exposure toward interest rate risk. With respect to financial instruments bearing variable market interest 

rates, the fair values do not differ significantly from the accounting values. 

The Bank grants loans and accepts deposits at both fixed and variable rates. Loans at variable rates to clients as 

well as deposits from clients represent instruments for which the Bank has the right to modify unilaterally the 

rates as a consequence of possible changes on the market. Bank notifies its clients 15 days in advance of the 

changes. By these instruments the Bank secured additionally its exposure to interest rate risk and is able to 

manage the impact from the market over its income statement. 

According to the internal and external financial market evolution, the bank forecasts the evolution of interest 

rates for its assets and liabilities and their impact on net interest income. The bank estimates a fluctuation in 

interest rates of +/- 100 and +/-50 basis points to be reasonable for 2017 and 2016. 

 

 
Increase in basis 

points 

Sensitivity of Net 

Interest Income, 

Decrease in basis 

points 

Sensitivity of Net 

Interest Income 

  MDL’000  MDL’000 

     

2017 +100 (15,725) -100 15,7252 

 +50 (7,862) -50 7,862 

     

2016 +100 (1,472) -100 1,472 

 +50 (736) -50 736 

An illustration of assets and loans of the Bank exposure to the influence of interest rate risk at December 31, 

2017 and December 31, 2016 is represented below. Assets and liabilities of the Bank are included in the table at 

the net book value, structured by the contractual price change data, in chronological order and by due date. 
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34. Risk management (continued) 

34.5 Interest rate risk (continued) 

 

31 December 2017 Total 

Less than 1 

month 

From 1 month 

to 3 months 

From 3 

months to 1 

year 

From 1 to 5 

years 

More than 5 

years 

Non-interest 

bearing items 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 

ACTIVE        

Cash on hand and balances at the National 

Bank 

4,483,521  2,794,935       1,688,586  

Current accounts and deposits at banks  1,354,945  -    -     1,354,945  

Financial investments - HTM  3,154,357   1,924,739  403,972   795,398  40,248    -    

Loans, net (floating interest rate) 4,740,048 4,394,149   70,143   229,772  -   45,984  

Loans, net (fixed interest rate) 626,496   7,888  25,760  101,604   369,517   121,569  158 

Financial investments - AFS  4,191        4,191 

Tangible assets, net  217,660        217,660  

Intangible assets, net  44,976        44,976  

Other assets, net 

Assets taken in possession / ownership, net 

224,323 

302,580 

      224,323  

302,580 

Total assets  15,153,097   9,111,711   499,875  1,126,774  409,765  121,569   3,883,403 

        

LIABILITIES        

Due to banks  13,056        13,056  

Other borrowings  629,383   80,113   163,096   372,296   -   -   13,878  

Due to customers (fixed rate)  6,329,836   2,003,480   432,506           1,585,585   6,848    2,301,417  

Due to customers (floating rate)  5,674,832   5,020,225   67,563   95,933  -   491,111 

Income tax   26,635       26,635 

Other liabilities  377,240        377,240  

Total liabilities  13,050,982   7,103,818           663,165   2,053,814   6,848  -   3,223,337  

        

Interest gap Cumulative interest gap  2,102,115   2,007,893  (163,290)  (927,040)  402,917   121,569  660,066 

  -     2,007,893  1,844,603          917,563  1,320,480 1,442,049   2,102,115  
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34. Risk management (continued) 

34.6 Interest rate risk (continued) 

31 December 2016 Total 

Less than 1 

month 

From 1 month 

to 3 months 

From 3 

months to 1 

year 

From 1 to 5 

years 

 

More than 5 

years 

Non-interest 

bearing items 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 

ASSETS        

Cash on hand and balances at the National 

Bank 

 3,779,688  2,329,354       1,450,334  

Current accounts and deposits at banks  569,897   365,208    6,008     198,681  

Financial investments - HTM  2,282,343   1,358,836   234,694   688,586   227    -    

Loans, net (floating rate) 6,536,131 5,978,463   117,698   386,422     53,548  

Loans, net (fixed rate) 349,727   15,450  8,543  51,303   261,866   12,257   308 

Financial investments - AFS  3,824        3,824 

Tangible assets, net  241,191        241,191  

Intangible assets, net  47,205        47,205  

Other assets, net 233,679        233,679 

Assets taken in possession / ownership, net 325,846      325,846 

Total assets 

 

 14,369,531   10,047,311   360,935  1,132,319   262,093   12,257   2,554,616 

        

LIABILITIES        

Due to banks  40,563        40,563  

Other borrowings  865,254   122,310   214,607   499,410   564   122   28,241  

Due to customers (fixed rate)  5,903,878   1,416,770   359,668           1,799,454   14,222    2,313,764  

Due to customers (floating rate)  5,482,670   5,272,079   176,485   34,103   3    

Income tax  9,985        9,985 

Other liabilities  137,095        137,095  

Total liabilities  12,439,445   6,811,159           750,760   2,332,967   14,789   122   2,529,648  

        

Interest gaps   1,930,086   3,236,152  (389,825)  (1,200,648)  247,304   12,135  24,968 

Interest gaps, cumulative  -     3,236,152  2,846,327          1,645,679  1,892,983  1,905,118   1,930,086  
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34. Risk management (continued) 

34.6 Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk of loss arising due to the gap between maturities of assets and liabilities. 

According to the Regulations issued by the National Bank of Moldova, the Bank daily monitors the liquidity 

indicators calculated from financial information according to two established principles by the National 

Accounting Standards. The first principle takes into consideration the ratio between the long term assets and 

liabilities (non-liquid). The second principle calculates the Bank’s current liquidity taking into consideration 

the ratio between liquid assets and total bank assets. Bank’s liquidity as of 31 December, 2017, calculated 

according to those two principles, constituted 0.54% and 59.24%, at as December 31, 2016 – 0.73 %  and 

44.77%.  Regulations impose a minimum level of 20% per current calculated liquidity according to principle 

two and a maximum level of 1 for the liquidity calculated according to the principle 1 as of December 31, 

2017 and respectively as of December 31, 2016. 

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Bank’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2017 

based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations. Repayments which are subject to notice are treated 

as if notice were to be given immediately. However, the Bank expects that many customers will not request 

repayment at the earliest date the Bank could be required to pay and the table does not reflect the expected 

cash flows indicated by the Bank’s deposit retention history. 

31 December 2017 

On 

demand 

Less than 3 

months 

From 3 

months to 

1 year 

From 1 

year to 5 

years 

More than 

5 years Total 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 

Financial liabilities       

Due to banks  13,056       13,056  

Other borrowings  -     28,779   192,556   411,182   40,188   672,705  

Due to customers  4,602,175   1,844,266   4,699,777   891,090   164,122   12,201,430  

       

Total undiscounted 

financial liabilities 

 4,615,231   1,873,045   4,892,333   1,302,272   204,310   12,887,191  

 

31 December 2016 

On 

demand 

Less than 3 

months 

From 3 

months to 

1 year 

From 1 

year to 5 

years 

More than 

5 years Total 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 

Financial liabilities       

Due to banks  40,563       40,563  

Other borrowings  -     35,768   208,537   580,982   125,730   951,017  

Due to customers  3,543,308   2,250,552   4,882,985   955,793   29,083   11,661,721  

       

Total undiscounted 

financial liabilities 

 3,583,871   2,286,320   5,091,522   1,536,775   154,813   12,653,301  

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due under 

normal and stress circumstances, which may result in disposal of certain assets at unfavorable prices. The Bank 

manages its liquidity risk through a regular estimation of the Liquidity position of the Bank. The gap analysis of 

the Bank’s assets and liabilities bases on their remaining maturities for 2017 and 2016 is represented below: 
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34. Risk management (continued) 

 

34.6 Liquidity risk (continued) 

 

31 December 2017 Total 

Less than 1 

month 

From 1 

month to 3 

months 

From 3 

months to 1 

year 

From 1 to 5 

years 

More than 5 

years 

Undefined 

maturity 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 

ACTIVE        

Cash on hand and balances at the National Bank  4,483,521   4,483,521       

Current accounts and deposits at banks  1,354,945   1,354,945    -     

Financial investments - HTM  3,154,357   1,914,707   384,682   790,554   64,414    

Loans, net  5,366,544  286,091   300,587   1,326,091  2,949,831   462,614   41,330  

Financial investments - AFS  4,191       4,191  

Tangible assets, net  217,660        217,660  

Intangible assets, net  44,976        44,976  

Other assets, net  

Assets taken in possession / ownership, net 

224,323 

302,580                                                         

151,914 26,263 367 

- 

5,149 - 40,630 

302,580 

        

Total assets  15,153,097   8,191,178  711,532  2,117,012   3,019,394   462,614  651,367 

        

LIABILITIES        

Due to banks  13,056   13,056       

Other borrowings  629,383   21,851  5,185   178,838   384,585   38,924   

Due to customers  12,004,668   5,145,099   1,254,888   4,605,406   845,671   153,604   

Income tax  26,635       26,635  

Other liabilities  377,240   57,306   3,751  10,746 1,866  303,571  

Total liabilities  13,050,982  5,237,312   1,263,824   4,794,990   1,232,122   192,528   330,206  

        

Maturity gaps 2,102,115   2,953,866  (552,292)  (2,677,978)  1,787,272  270,086   321,161 

Maturity gaps, cumulative    2,953,866   2,401,574   (276,404)  1,510,868   1,780,954  2,102,115  
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34. Risk management (continued) 

34.6 Liquidity risk (continued) 

 

31 December 2016 Total 

Less than 1 

month 

From 1 

month to 3 

months 

From 3 

months to 1 

year 

From 1 to 5 

years 

More than 5 

years 

Undefined 

maturity 

 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 MDL’000 

ASSETS        

Cash and balances at National Bank  3,779,688   3,779,688       

Current accounts and deposits at banks  569,897   556,382    13,515     

Financial investments - HTM  2,282,343   1,358,796   234,644   685,650   3,253    

Loans, net   6,885,858  389,889   404,002   1,889,843  3,695,411   454,651   52,062  

Financial investments - AFS  3,824        3,824  

Tangible assets  241,191        241,191  

Intangible assets, net  47,205        47,205  

Other assets, net 

Assets taken in possession / ownership, net 

233,679 

325,846               

71,067 29 85,360 

325,846 

6,508 70,715  -  

Total assets  14,369,531   6,155,822  638,675  3,000,214   3,705,172   525,366  344,282 

        

LIABILITIES        

Due to banks  40,563   40,563       

Other borrowings  865,254   28,568   4,887   189,071   524,677   118,051   

Due to customers  11,386,548   4,342,826   1,382,357   4,740,488   903,870   17,007   

Income tax  9,985       9,985  

Other liabilities  137,095   77,898   1,284      57,913  

Total liabilities  12,439,445  4,489,855   1,388,528   4,929,559   1,428,547   135,058   67,898  

        

Maturity gaps 1,930,086   1,665,967  (749,853)  (1,929,345)  2,276,625  390,308   276,384 

Maturity gaps, cumulative    1,665,967   916,114   (1,013,231)  1,263,394   1,653,702  1,930,086  
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35. Reputational risk 

The main strategic objectives of the Bank are: 

- strengthening the position of the Bank as universal, competitive commercial bank, with marketing and 

communication, by increasing the volume and complexity of transactions and promoting new products; 

- continuing the process of improving the Bank's image, optimizing the branch network and agencies, 

implementing new products on cards and electronic services; 

- promoting existing products and developing new attractive products in order to strengthen the position of the 

Bank on the savings sector of individuals and legal entities; 

- continuing the behavioral change of the staff both within the Bank and towards the clients and ensuring the 

highest level of professional training of the personnel; 

- strengthening the Bank's image on the financial and banking market. 

In order to reduce the reputational risk, the Bank considers permanent updating of the internal regulations 

regarding the standards and actions to be followed in the activity of customer knowledge and money laundering 

and terrorist financing prevention, solving complaints and petitions formulated by Bank's clients, educating 

customers to use the new products and services offered, knowing the costs associated with them, as well as 

identifying potential problems and ways to solve them. 

The Bank aims at framing a low level of reputational risk that does not result in loss or not reaching of profits 

estimated by the Bank. 

36. Political environment 

The political situation in the Republic of Moldova in 2017 is characterized by the relative political risk after the 

previous year. Maintaining macroeconomic stability, restoring the NBM's currency reserves to pre-crisis levels 

and meeting the memorandum with the IMF are the main achievements of this year. The biggest political event 

in 2017 was the reform of the electoral system. At the same time, the Government of the Republic of Moldova 

continued implementing the provisions of the Moldova-EU agreement and maintained the pro-European vector 

in foreign policy. The economy of the Republic of Moldova has shown GDP growth of 4.5%, surpassing the 

lower expectations. The measures of the National Bank of Moldova on the financial market, meant for the 

stability of the financial system, had a positive effect: the national currency appreciated during the year, interest 

rates on financial instruments diminished, liquidity and stability of the banking system remained. 

37. Going concern 

Going concern - is the principle that assumes that the bank continues to operate normally in the foreseeable 

future, without going into liquidation or significant reduction in activity. Financial statements are prepared 

assuming that the Bank will continue to operate normally in the foreseeable future. 

Financial or operational factors that may affect the bank's ability to continue operating in the future, were not 

detected. According to the bank's strategy until 2020 the bank plans to continue its activity, following primary 

aim of safeguarding financial stability of the bank and a high level of service to its customers. The current 

financial situation and financial indicators modeling prepared by the Bank, including those who are prudentially 

regulated by the National Bank of Moldova, proves the capacity of the Bank to obtain in 2018 a positive benefit, 

return no less than the average market, maintaining sufficient liquidity and solvency. 
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38. Corrections of previous years 

The provision made by the Bank on April 28, 2017, as a result of the thematic monitoring carried out by the 

National Bank of Moldova (hereinafter "NBM"), which resulted to the April 12 report, was included in the 

reserves from the unpaid profit for the previous years, whereby the bank was prescribed to recognise a provision 

for the litigation with Zapadnii Bank in the amount of 100% or MDL 000 218,109. As a result of these factors, 

the Bank's management has received the decision to recognize the provision through the reserves from the 

undistributed profit for the previous years, therefore, the following items of the Bank's financial position have 

been restated as follows: 

 
2016 

 

2017 

 
Initial report Corrections Restatement 

Retained earnings 1,139,861        218,109  1,357,970 

Receivables on deferred income tax 0 25,572 25,572 

39. Subsequent events to the reporting period 

39a). In accordance with the requirements of IFRS international standards, the Bank on January 1, 2018 has 

implemented the provisions of IFRS 9. In order to comply with IFRS 9, the Bank has entered into a collaboration 

agreement with Deloitte Audit SRL, according to which the representatives of the Deloitte Audit SRL have 

developed the IFRS 9 methodology, corresponding to the specific nature of the Bank's business. 

The results of the implementation of IFRS 9 are detailed below: 

Financial assets Impact IFRS 9 IAS 39  IFRS 9  

 

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 

Total Nostro 

account 

                 

14,452,819  

                            

-    

       

14,452,819  

                      

-    

                           

-    

Total deposits                                -    
             

64,548,222  

                      

-    

                      

-    

            

64,548,222  

Total securities 

                   

9,904,661  

                            

-    

         

9,904,661  

                      

-    

                           

-    

Total loans 
               

(53,344,425) 

        

1,075,740,432  

       

48,646,510  

       

32,371,065  

          

941,378,432  

Total other 

asstes 

                   

3,599,319  

           

181,926,370  

         

1,694,682  

                

2,258  

          

183,828,749  

Bank 

guarantees 

                   

3,754,715  

                            

-    

         

3,287,726  

            

466,989  

 

Total 

               

(21,632,912) 

        

1,322,215,025  

       

77,986,398  

       

32,840,312  

       

1,189,755,403  

 

39.b) On January 19, 2018, in connection with the fact that the shareholders of BC Moldindconbank SA did not 

dispose the shares issued by the bank, within the term established by the NBM Decision and pursuant to the Law 

No. 202 of 06.10.2017 on the activity of the Banks and the Law No. 171 from 11.07.2012, the Bank's Board of 

Directors approved the cancellation of 63.9% of the Bank's shares and, at the same time, the issuance of new 

shares for sale for a period of 3 months. 

39.c) By the Decision of the EC of  National Bank of Moldova from January 12, 2018, the term of appointment 

of the temporary administrators of the Bank was extended for a period of 6 months, until 20.07.2018 inclusive. 

39.d) Now, the Bank is in the process of revising the internal regulatory framework in order to comply with the 

provisions of Basel III and the CRD IV. 


